

Virginia Commonwealth University VCU Scholars Compass

Theses and Dissertations

Graduate School

2018

Investigating the Presence and Correlates of Anti-Thin Bias in Adults

Alexandria Davies Virginia Commonwealth University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd Part of the <u>Counseling Psychology Commons</u>

© The Author

Downloaded from https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd/5292

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at VCU Scholars Compass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of VCU Scholars Compass. For more information, please contact libcompass@vcu.edu.

INVESTIGATING THE PRESENCE AND CORRELATES OF ANTI-THIN BIAS IN ADULTS

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science at Virginia Commonwealth University.

by

Alexandria Davies Bachelor of Arts, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, December 2012

> Major Director: Suzanne E. Mazzeo, Ph.D. Professor of Psychology

Virginia Commonwealth University Richmond, Virginia April 2018

Acknowledgement

I would like to thank my research mentor and thesis committee chair, Dr. Suzanne Mazzeo, for her support and guidance throughout this project. I also would like to thank my other committee members, Dr. Robin Everhart and Dr. Jacqueline Corcoran, for their feedback and insights. I am also grateful for my friend and lab mate, Blair Burnette, for her ongoing advice and support. I also wish to thank my other lab mates for their encouragement throughout my graduate school experience. Finally, I am appreciative of my family and my partner for their ongoing love and support.

Table of Contents

List of Tablesv
List of Figures vi
Abstract vii
Overview1
Thin Ideal
Weight Stigma5
Weight-related teasing
Anti-Thin Bias
Anti-thin bias and ethnicity12
Social Comparison Theory14
Summary and Purpose of the Current Study15
Method
Power Analysis17
Participants
Vignette Selection
Measures19
Demographic information19
Validation questions
Personality characteristics
Etiology of weight
Social desirability
General social comparison
Physical social comparison
Body image
Self-esteem
Disordered eating
Procedure
Data Preparation
Data Analyses
Results

Descriptive Statistics	27
Personality Characteristics of the Vignette Character	29
Perceived Etiology of Weight	33
Associations with Anti-Thin Bias	37
Correlates of Anti-Thin Bias	37
Discussion	37
Perceived Personality Attributes Based on Weight and Race	
Perceived Etiology of Weight	40
Associations and Correlates of Anti-Thin Bias	42
Implications	42
Strengths and Limitations	43
Future Directions	44
References	46
Appendices	70
Appendix A: Vignettes	71
Appendix B: Demographic Questionnaire	72
Appendix C: Validation Questions	73
Appendix D: Fat Phobia Scale (FPS)	74
Appendix E: Causes of Weight	76
Appendix F: Marlowe-Crowne Social Desirability Scale (MCSD)	77
Appendix G: Iowa-Netherlands Comparison Orientation Measure (INCOM)	78
Appendix H: Physical Appearance Comparison Scale-Revised (PACS-R)	79
Appendix I: Broad Conceptualization of Beauty Scale (BCBS)	81
Appendix J: Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSES)	82
Appendix K: Eating Disorder Examination Questionnaire	83

List of Tables

Table 1.	Descriptive Statistics (by Group)	
Table 2.	Descriptive Statistics on Adjectives	
Table 3.	Descriptive Statistics on Etiology of Weight Subscales	
Table 4.	Descriptive Statistics on Etiology of Weight Items	34
Table 5.	Etiology of Weight (by Group)	

List of Figures

Figure 1.	Perceived Likeability of Vignette Characters	30
-----------	--	----

Abstract

INVESTIGATING THE PRESENCE AND CORRELATES OF ANTI-THIN BIAS IN ADULTS

By: Alexandria Davies, B.A.

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science at Virginia Commonwealth University.

Virginia Commonwealth University, 2018

Director: Suzanne Mazzeo, Ph.D. Professor of Psychology

Weight stigma is associated with negative health outcomes across the BMI continuum. However, few studies have examined weight discrimination targeting people with low body weights. This investigation explored the presence of anti-thin bias, defined as the belief that people with low BMIs have undesirable personality characteristics. Participants were randomly assigned to read one of six vignettes about women that differed by race (White and Black) and weight status (slightly underweight, normal weight, and slightly overweight). Negative personality characteristics were more likely to be ascribed to both underweight and overweight women, compared with normal weight women. Furthermore, participants were significantly more likely to attribute underweight women's body weight to biological factors. Results indicate that underweight women might be more stigmatized for their body weight discrimination for individuals across the BMI spectrum.

Keywords: underweight, stigma, attributions, social comparison

Overview

Extensive research documents the presence of weight bias, defined as harmful weightbased stereotypes or discrimination, against individuals who are overweight or obese (Brownell, 2005). Although less frequently investigated, anti-thin bias is also evident in multiple studies (McDonnell & Lin, 2016; Neumark-Sztainer et al., 2002; Tantleff-Dunn, Hayes, & Braun, 2009). For example, Cramer and Steinwert (1998) found (using picture and story prompts) that both average weight and underweight preschoolers were more likely to want to play with an average weight peer rather than one who is either underweight or overweight. In the same study, 5-yearolds were more likely to assign negative adjectives to a picture of an underweight child than to a picture of an average weight child (Cramer & Steinwert, 1998). This research suggests that even very young children display stigmatizing attitudes about both overweight and underweight peers.

Both genes and environment determine body weight (Dubois et al., 2012; Grilo, & Pogue-Geile, 1991; Puhl & Brownell, 2001). Consequently, weight change is often quite difficult (Fairburn & Brownell, 2001). However, many believe weight gain or loss is controllable by willpower (Fairburn & Brownell, 2001; Puhl, & Brownell, 2001). Public health efforts reflect these attitudes and oversimplify the difficulty of changing body weight. For example, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services launched its "Small Steps" campaign in 2004, which attempts to "use humor to inspire overweight adults to incorporate 'Small Steps' into their hectic lives." Critics complain that these efforts are ineffective in creating behavior change because they largely attribute body weight to personal failings (Stein, 2008). Furthermore, in 2008, a Mississippi State House Bill proposed that restaurants stop serving food to people with obesity (Pomeranz, 2008). These public health efforts encourage stigmatization of body weight as a way to produce health behavior change despite a lack of any evidence suggesting that this stigmatization yields change (Simpson, Griffin, & Mazzeo, 2017; Young, Subramanian, & Hinnant, 2016), as well as criticism from experts (Puhl & Heuer, 2010). A meta-analysis of public health campaigns revealed that the most effective campaigns offer realistic solutions (Witte & Allen, 2000). However, people with obesity thought that most public health campaigns did not offer practical recommendations (Lewis et al., 2010). Therefore, these public health strategies might inadvertently trigger maladaptive coping responses rather than result in long term behavioral change (Hastings, Stead, & Webb, 2004).

Although many health advertisements stigmatize overweight and obese people, there are also efforts to ban advertisements of people considered "too thin." France passed legislation in 2015, for example, that requires fashion models to have a body mass index (BMI) of at least 18 and provide a doctor's note to confirm their good health (Model Health Law, 2015). Another example occurred in 2016 when London's mayor, Sadiq Khan, announced a ban on advertisements that promote "unhealthy and unrealistic body images" (Transport for London Advertising Policy, 2016). Although exposure to media images of thin models is positively linked to body dissatisfaction and disordered eating, these laws have garnered criticism (for meta-analyses, see Grabe et al., 2008 and Groesz, Levine, & Murnen, 2002). For example, France's National Union of Modeling Agencies released a statement that BMI should not be the only consideration for models' health because some people are naturally thin (McNicoll, 2015; Steinberg & Jotkowitz, 2017). Research demonstrates thinness has a similar genetic contribution as obesity (Bulik & Allison, 2001). Thus, fashion models might have difficulty gaining weight. Additionally, Claire Mysko, chief executive officer of the National Eating Disorders Association, worries the law simplifies eating disorders by only considering body weight, which could lead to

an under-diagnosis of eating disorders in individuals whose weight is in normal or overweight ranges (Friedman, 2016).

A better strategy to promote positive body image might be to expose people to a variety of body types rather than placing BMI limitations on models (Tylka & Iannantuono, 2016; Rodgers, Ziff, Lowy, Yu, & Austin, 2017). The ability to conceptualize beauty broadly is a positive body image construct, defined as the capability to consider a variety of appearances, body shapes, and inner characteristics beautiful. In addition, a broad conceptualization of beauty is linked to higher levels of self-compassion and lower levels of anti-fat attitudes, body surveillance, and social comparison (Tylka & Iannantuono, 2016).

Thin Ideal

Western beauty ideals have changed over time. During the 1950s, the media popularized an hourglass figure epitomized by such cultural icons as Marilyn Monroe. This ideal shifted to a thinner frame in the 1960s, with the introduction of more angular models such as Twiggy. Consistent with this shift, the marketing of diet and weight loss products in popular women's magazines increased (Thompson, Heinberg, Altabe, & Tantleff-Dunn, 1999).

A recent meta-analysis found that thinness-oriented body dissatisfaction decreased over the past 31 years, which could reflect another transition in appearance-related ideals (Karazsia, Murnen, & Tylka, 2016). Recent body image research suggests beauty ideals for women are shifting from a very thin frame to a thin, but toned, muscular frame (Boepple & Thompson, 2014; Simpson & Mazzeo, 2016; Webb, Vinoski, Warren-Findlow, Burrell, & Putz, 2017). Thus, it could be that being thin is no longer enough in Western society; rather, women must be both thin and athletic (Simpson & Mazzeo, 2017). This new body image ideal is known as "fitspiration" (a combination of the words *fitness* and *inspiration*, Abena, 2013). Although this could be seen as somewhat positive, as extreme thinness is perhaps not the only body ideal, research suggests the thin and muscular ideal is also potentially problematic. For example, an experimental investigation found that women exposed to thin, muscular models reported decreases in body satisfaction comparable to that reported by women exposed to thin, non-muscular models (Benton & Karazsia, 2015). Another study found that women exposed to a thin, athletic model manifested decreases in body satisfaction, whereas women exposed to a normal weight, athletic model did not have similar decreases (Homan et al., 2011). These results suggest body image ideals are evolving from an ultrathin frame to a thin, muscular frame, and these changes are not a panacea for reducing body dissatisfaction.

Furthermore, research suggests that men find women with weights in the "normal" range more attractive than women with weights in the "underweight" range. Studies investigating links among sexual desirability, BMI, and dress size, note that women with weights classified as either "underweight" or "low normal weight" are considered less attractive by men, compared with women with weights in the "normal" range (BMI > 19, Tovée, Reinhardt, Emery, & Cornelissen, 1998; Cundall & Guo, 2015; Swami, & Tovée, 2005). These results suggest that the thin, emaciated body type might no longer be the standard of beauty in Westernized cultures. This, in turn, could lead to more stigmatization of very thin individuals. Although this new body ideal might seem less harmful than the ultra-slim images of models, it still emphasizes physical activity for appearance-related motives, which is itself related to increased body dissatisfaction, low self-esteem, and disordered eating (Goncalves & Gomes, 2012). Moreover, the thin and toned body type is unattainable for most women unless they exercise excessively (Krane, Stiles-Shipley, Waldron, & Michalenok, 2001; Tiggemann & Zaccardo, 2015). For example, one study found that women who posted fitspiration images on Instagram scored significantly higher on measures of disordered eating, drive for muscularity, and compulsive exercise than women who posted travel images on Instagram (Holland & Tiggemann, 2017). Although physical activity is beneficial for health, excessive exercise and exercise dependence, are associated with fatigue, injury proneness, and social withdrawal (Bamber, Cockerill, Rodgers, & Carroll, 2003; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services [HHS], 2000).

Weight Stigma

Weight stigma is defined as negative attitudes or stereotypes about individuals due to their weight (Puhl & Heuer, 2009). This form of stigma is experienced through discriminatory behaviors (e.g. an employer is less likely to promote an overweight person) or through internalized attitudes (i.e. people apply these negative stereotypes to themselves, Puhl & Heuer, 2009). Weight stigma is extremely common, and research suggests that health professionals are not immune to this bias. Indeed, health professionals obtained similar scores on both explicit and implicit measures of weight bias (Sabin, Marini, Nosek, & Fielding 2012; Tomiyama et al., 2015). These results, as well as those of several other studies (Latner & Stunkard, 2003; Phelan et al., 2014; Teachman & Brownell, 2001), suggest weight stigma is more socially acceptable than other forms of prejudicial attitudes, as evidenced by people's willingness to admit explicit anti-fat attitudes.

In a cross-sectional study of adults, women reported that they experience weight discrimination more frequently than racial discrimination (Puhl, Andreyeva, & Brownell, 2008). Furthermore, weight discrimination was more commonly reported than prejudice based on sexual orientation, religious beliefs, ethnicity, and physical disability across genders (Puhl et al., 2008). Thus, weight discrimination is widespread. Although people with higher BMIs are more likely to experience weight stigma (Puhl & Heuer, 2009), it is also reported by individuals with BMIs in the underweight range (Neumark-Sztainer et al., 2002). Additionally, weight stigma has a greater influence on negative outcomes than one's actual body weight (Sutin, Robinson, Daly, & Terracciano, 2016; Wott & Carels, 2010). People across weight categories who experienced weight discrimination, for example, were more likely to overeat and consume convenience foods, and less likely to have a regular meal pattern (Sutin et al., 2016). Perceived weight discrimination is also related to higher depression (Wott & Carels, 2010), weight gain (Tomiyama, 2014), and cortisol activity (Schvey, Puhl, Brownell, 2014) in both people with "normal" range weights and those with overweight and obesity. These results highlight the need for additional research investigating weight stigma across weight statuses.

Weight-related teasing.

Weight-related teasing, defined as name-calling or verbally mocking someone's weight, is a form of weight stigma (Puhl & Heuer, 2009). In a cross-sectional study with adolescents ages 12-18, both youth with BMIs in the overweight range, and those in the underweight range, experienced weight-related teasing more frequently than peers in the normal weight range (Neumark-Sztainer et al., 2002). Youth with overweight BMIs reported being more bothered by weight-related teasing compared with those with BMIs categorized as underweight. However, 54.6% of youth with BMIs defined as underweight reported being upset by the teasing. There was not a statistically significant difference in frequency of weight-related teasing experienced by girls and boys in the underweight category, but girls in this group were more likely to be bothered by the teasing than boys. Adolescents teased about their weight were also significantly more likely to engage in disordered eating behaviors regardless of their weight status (Neumark-Sztainer et al., 2002). This finding is consistent with past research. Among adolescent girls, weight/shape related teasing was strongly associated with disordered eating (Levine, Smolak,

Hayden, 1994). Weight teasing also was linked to body dissatisfaction and disordered eating in college women (Annus et al., 2007; Stromer & Thompson, 1996).

Moreover, frequent teasing about weight is associated with higher depressive symptoms, body dissatisfaction, and suicidal ideation, and lower self-esteem among adolescents independent of weight, race, or ethnicity (Eisenberg, Neumark-Sztainer, & Story, 2003; Fabian & Thompson, 1989; Grilo et al., 1994). In a cross-sectional study of adolescents ages 12-18, weight-related teasing more strongly influenced adverse health outcomes than actual body weight, regardless of gender or race/ethnicity (Eisenberg et al., 2003). This study demonstrates the importance of examining weight stigma across weight categories.

Some research suggests that children and adolescents with weights in the underweight range might face increased risk for body image concerns and lower physical activity compared with their peers with weights in the normal range (Eisenberg et al., 2003; O'Dea & Amy, 2011). For example, a cross-sectional study of youth ages 6-18 found that 41.3% of those with weights classified as "thin" reported that their parents and peers told them that they did not eat enough (O'Dea & Amy, 2011). These youths were significantly less likely than their peers with normal weights to consider themselves at an ideal weight, and 53.9% of them reported wanting to gain weight. Thin youths were also less likely to be encouraged to exercise than youths at other weights (O'Dea & Amy, 2011), which is problematic because physical activity is positively associated with self-esteem (Davison & Schmalz, 2006; Dishman et al., 2006), perceived quality of life (Shoup et al., 2008), academic performance (Singh et al., 2012), and physical health (HHS, 2000), and negatively associated with body dissatisfaction (Slater & Tiggemann, 2006).

Youth with underweight also report having less confidence in their educational abilities, and experiencing more adverse social outcomes than their normal weight peers (Cramer &

Steinwert, 1998; Falkner et al., 2001). In a cross-sectional study of 7th, 9th, and 11th grade students, boys with underweight were significantly more likely to report disliking school and experiencing serious emotional problems than boys with average weights (Falkner et al., 2001). Both underweight girls and boys were more likely to report their friends did not care about them, and these youths felt they were less likely to complete college compared to their peers with weights in the normal range (Falkner et al., 2001). This is problematic because higher social support is related to lower body dissatisfaction and less disordered eating in adolescents (Kirsch, Shapiro, Conley, & Heinrichs, 2016), decreased risk of mortality and morbidity (Holt-Lunstad, Smith, & Layton, 2010), and better immune and cardiovascular health in adults (Uchino, 2006).

Although much of the literature on weight-related teasing has focused on children, evidence indicates that weight-related teasing and discrimination continue into adulthood. In a study of undergraduates, students were just as likely to be teased for being underweight as they were for being overweight, regardless of gender (Tantleff-Dunn et al., 2009). Indeed, 12% of participants said they experienced discrimination for being underweight, and 24% of overweight individuals reported weight-based discrimination. These results contradict the idea of "weight halo" effects, which is the notion that society perceives thin people as more attractive and successful, and in turn treats them more favorably (Wade & Dimaria, 2003).

Anti-Thin Bias

Despite evidence indicating that individuals with underweight BMIs are teased about their weight more often than individuals with normal weight BMIs, few studies have explored anti-thin bias. The idea of anti-thin bias is counterintuitive because Western culture tends to idealize thin bodies, so one would assume that thin people are considered more attractive (Thompson et al., 1999). In addition, people consider more attractive individuals to have more desirable personality traits (Dion, Berscheid, & Walster, 1972; see Hosoda, Stone, Romero, & Coats, 2003 for a meta-analysis). Because thin people have achieved a cultural body ideal, one might think that they receive more favorable treatment. However, research finds that anti-attractiveness biases occur in same-sex people. For example, Agthe, Spörrle, and Maner (2010) found that participants were less likely to offer a job to an attractive same-sex candidate. Thus, preference for attractive people in organizational situations usually occurs in opposite-sex situations (Agthe et al., 2010; Agthe, Spörrle, & Maner 2011; Johnson, Podratz, Dipboye, & Gibbons, 2010). One explanation for this phenomenon could be that people feel threatened by same-sex attractive peers and will therefore treat them less favorably (Agthe et al., 2011). Therefore, embodying cultural beauty ideals could have a negative impact in certain situations, and thin people might be met with jealousy by same-sex peers.

Moreover, because thinness is idealized in Western culture, thin people might receive unwanted attention. This hypothesis was evaluated in a qualitative study conducted with fourteen thin women and four thin men (Beggan & DeAngelis, 2015). They found that the majority reported hearing comments about their weight often and usually perceived these comments negatively (Beggan & DeAngelis, 2015). Respondents further reported feeling that even positive comments about their weight were motivated by envy. Moreover, they considered weight-related comments intrusive at times (Beggan & DeAngelis, 2015).

A content analysis of weight and appearance photo captions in celebrity gossip magazines offered further support for the theory that thin people might be judged negatively because others resent them for attaining a cultural ideal (McDonnell & Lin, 2016). Specifically, female celebrities classified as underweight were significantly more likely to receive criticism about their appearance than those classified as overweight or normal weight (McDonnell & Lin, 2016). The authors propose that these critical comments suggest the ideal body type is shifting from very thin to one of being both thin and muscular. They also suggest that thin women might experience more weight shaming because critical comments about underweight women could alleviate body dissatisfaction in female readers who likely cannot realistically or healthfully attain this body type (Alicke, 2010; Ford, Maynard, & Li, 2014; McDonnell & Lin, 2016).

Evidence that Western body ideals are shifting to a more athletic image continues to accumulate (Boepple & Thompson, 2014; Karazsia et al., 2016; Simpson & Mazzeo, 2016; Webb et al., 2017). For example, Swami et al. (2008) found that both photographs of underweight (BMI < 18.5) and low average weight individuals (BMI < 19 for women and BMI < 21 for men) were ranked by an undergraduate sample as lonelier, more likely to get teased, and less attractive than photographs of people in the middle-average weight category (BMI of 19-20 for women and 21-22 for men). These results suggest that even individuals on the low end of the normal BMI range can be perceived negatively.

Degree of weight stigma often differs based on people's attributions of the etiology of body weight (Blaine & Williams, 2004; Puhl et al., 2005; Teachman et al., 2003). Only one study has investigated weight stigma across weight categories. Allison and Lee (2015) exposed each participant to one of six vignettes that differed by body size (underweight, average weight, and overweight) and information on weight controllability (no information vs. uncontrollable weight due to a medical disorder). The uncontrollable weight condition included three metabolic disorders: hyperthyroidism, G6PD deficiency, and hypothyroidism. Interestingly, the authors found that the underweight target whose weight was attributed to hyperthyroidism received less favorable ratings than the underweight target whose weight was not due to a medical condition. However, this result could be due to the measure for personality assessment, which included only six adjectives: attractive, healthy, likeable, motivated, self-disciplined, and having willpower. Ratings on these personality dimensions were added to yield an overall personality rating. (A higher sum was considered a more favorable rating). The target described as underweight due to a non-medical condition received higher ratings on self-discipline, motivation, and willpower, which likely resulted in a higher overall rating. The researchers did not find differences in likeability ratings between the average weight and underweight targets, which suggests that anti-thin bias was not evident in this sample (Allison & Lee, 2015).

In another investigation of the potential link between attributions of body weight and perceptions of underweight individuals, Tantleff-Dunn, Hayes, and Braun (2009) presented a sample of college students with one of three vignettes that described a woman as underweight due to an eating disorder, underweight due to heredity, or underweight due to cancer treatments. The target whose weight was attributed to an eating disorder was perceived most negatively on personality measures. However, the target whose underweight status was described as hereditary was viewed as more depressed, conforming, and insecure, and lower in self-esteem compared with the target described as underweight due to cancer treatments. Respondents were also most likely to report that the underweight woman in the hereditary condition under-ate and disliked food (Tantleff-Dunn et al., 2009). These results suggest the possibility that people might attribute a thin person's weight to eating disorder symptomatology (e.g., restraint) despite contrary evidence. This is problematic because eating disorders are highly stigmatized. Studies demonstrate that people consider those with eating disorders to have more negative personality characteristics and to be more responsible for their illness than people with other mental health issues, including depression (O'Connor, O'Hara, McNamara, & McNicholas, 2015),

schizophrenia (Stewart, Keel, & Schiavo, 2006), and substance abuse (Yu, Hildebrandt, & Lanzieri, 2015).

Anti-thin bias and ethnicity.

Given cultural differences in body ideals, it is possible that weight stigma differs across racial/ethnic groups. Research suggests Black women tend to idealize curvier body types that are discrepant from the thin-ideal endorsed in Eurocentric media (Aruguete, Nickleberry, & Yates, 2004; Gordon et al., 2010). Some Black women consider thinness to be a body ideal more appropriate for White women, and view thick/toned/curvy bodies as more ideal for Black women (Awad et al., 2015). This racial difference in ideals is evident from a young age. For instance, 66% of Black mothers with children who are overweight reported being satisfied with their child's weight or wanted their child to be heavier (Killon et al., 2006). Additionally, Black parents from lower socioeconomic groups were significantly more likely than White and Hispanic parents from lower socioeconomic groups to consider children with weights in the overweight range to be healthy (Sherry et al., 2004). This sociocultural ideal is problematic because childhood overweight/obesity is associated with numerous negative outcomes over time, including a higher likelihood of diabetes, cardiovascular risk factors, and premature mortality (for full review of the literature, see Reilly et al., 2003).

Wade and Dimaria (2003) found that a vignette and a photograph depicting an overweight Black woman received more positive personality ratings and higher perceived success than a vignette depicting a thin/normal weight Black woman. Participants in their study were exclusively White because it was conducted at a private university that is 98% White. Thus, the researchers suggested that higher ratings of the overweight Black woman might be attributable to stereotypes that Black women should endorse a "mammy" character (Wade & Dimaria, 2003). The "mammy" character is a stereotypical image of an overweight Black woman who is a homemaker (Parham, White, & Ajamu, 2000). However, the "thin" Black character depicted in the vignette was normal weight. No research to date has examined the interaction of race and underweight status on ratings of personality characteristics.

Body image research demonstrates Black men and women are more accepting of larger body figures, compared with White (Rogers Wood & Petrie, 2010; Webb, Warren-Findlow, Chou, & Adams, 2013). It is not clear if this acceptance of a larger body size is linked to stronger anti-thin bias. However, one study conducted with Black adolescents found that those in the lowest BMI quintile reported more body dissatisfaction than those in the second lowest BMI quintile (Striegel-Moore et al., 2000). Although Black women endorse a larger body ideal, this ideal seems to reflect a desire for curvaceousness in the hips, breasts, and buttocks (Dawson-Andoh, Gray, Soto, & Parker, 2011). Specifically, Black men consider Black women more attractive if they are not only curvaceous, but also have a low waist-to-hip ratio (Freedman, Carter, Sbrocco, & Gray, 2004). Therefore, the Black community might be more likely to stigmatize people with underweight rather than those with overweight. As a result, Black women who are underweight might be more likely to engage in binge eating behaviors and weight gain efforts in order to achieve a more curvaceous body. Research does suggest that Black women engage in more efforts to gain, rather than lose weight (Rosen, Gross, Schneiderman, Neil, 1987; Schreiber et al., 1996).

In a cross-sectional study of Black and White female undergraduates, Black women were more likely to report weighing less than their body ideal; in contrast, White women more frequently reported weighing more than their body ideal (Perez & Joiner, 2003). Further, Black and White women who were dissatisfied with their weight were significantly more likely than women who considered themselves an ideal weight to engage in bulimic behaviors, regardless of whether or not they considered themselves underweight or overweight. In addition, Black women who perceived themselves as underweight were more likely to binge eat than Black women who did not perceive themselves as underweight. As a result, the curvier body ideal of the Black community does not necessarily act as a buffer against disordered eating (Perez & Joiner, 2003).

Social Comparison Theory

Social comparison is another construct with relevance to weight bias and appearance ideals. Festinger (1954) theorized that people evaluate themselves by comparing themselves to others. There are three ways people compare themselves: upward social comparison, downward social comparison, and lateral social comparison. Downward social comparison occurs when individuals compare themselves to those they consider less desirable, whereas upward social comparisons are made with individuals whom they consider more desirable than themselves. Lateral social comparison refers to people making comparisons to others to whom they consider themselves similar.

With respect to body image, women tend to engage in more upward social comparisons, comparing themselves to women they view as more attractive (Leahey, Crowther, & Mickelson, 2007; Morrison, Kalin, & Morrison, 2004). In a longitudinal study of female undergraduates, researchers found that upward social comparisons were associated with increases in negative affect and body dissatisfaction (Leahey et al., 2007). Also, research suggests that upward social comparisons might lead people to internalize unrealistic body ideals, which in turn increases body dissatisfaction and subsequent disordered eating (Dittmar, 2005; Fitzsimmons-Craft, 2011; Myers & Crowther, 2009).

In contrast, people who engage in more frequent downward social comparisons tend to have higher body esteem (Kim, & Jarry, 2014). For example, in a cross-sectional study of female undergraduates, women who engaged in more frequent downward social comparisons had less body dissatisfaction than women who engaged in fewer downward social comparisons (Kim & Jarry, 2014). Thus, downward social comparisons can be a protective strategy that enhance body esteem. Individuals might compare themselves to those they perceive as less physically attractive to highlight the discrepancy between themselves and a less attractive person, which results in improved body image (O'Brien, Hunter, Halberstadt & Anderson, 2007). In the context of weight bias, these findings suggest that women might attempt to improve their body image by criticizing others whose weight is either in the overweight or underweight range (Alicke, 2000). Although there is research on downward social comparisons with overweight individuals (Bailey & Ricciardelli, 2010; Heinberg & Thompson, 1992; Lin & Kulik, 2002; Ramirez & Milan, 2016; Rancourt, Leahey, LaRose, & Crowther, 2015), there is only one study to date on downward social comparisons with underweight individuals (Allison & Lee, 2015).

Summary and Purpose of the Current Study

This study investigated anti-thin bias in a diverse sample of young adults, to enhance understanding of the role of race and ethnicity on perceptions of thinness. Weight bias literature has primarily focused on individuals with overweight and obesity, despite some evidence of the existence of anti-thin bias. Research on anti-attractiveness bias suggests that people might envy same gendered people who meet a cultural body ideal, and, consequently, might stigmatize them to reduce perceived social threat (Agthe et al., 2010; Agthe et al., 2011). Further, body image ideals are fluid, and research suggests that the Western beauty ideal is shifting from thin, emaciated body types to a thin, athletic body type, which could lead to increased stigmatization of women considered underweight (Boepple & Thompson, 2014; Karazsia et al., 2016; Simpson & Mazzeo, 2016). Weight stigma is related to higher rates of overeating (Sutin et al., 2016), depressive symptomatology (Wott & Carels, 2010), weight gain (Tomiyama, 2014), and cortisol activity (Schvey et al., 2014) regardless of one's actual weight status. Therefore, it is important to investigate this stigma across a variety of weight statuses.

Most of the research on weight discrimination in samples of individuals considered underweight has focused on children and adolescents. For example, both overweight and underweight youth experience weight-related teasing more frequently than normal weight peers (Neumark-Sztainer et al., 2002). The experience of weight-related teasing is associated with higher levels of disordered eating (Neumark-Sztainer et al., 2002), depressive symptoms, and body dissatisfaction (Eisenberg et al., 2003), and lower perceived social support and self-esteem (O'Dea & Amy, 2011), regardless of one's weight status, age, and race/ethnicity. However, antithin bias continues into adulthood. Little research has examined adults' attributions about the etiology of underweight. Enhancing understanding of these attributions might clarify why individuals with an underweight BMI experience more weight-related teasing than their peers with a normal weight BMI.

Furthermore, weight stigma might differ across racial and ethnic groups because of cultural differences in body image ideals. For instance, the Black community endorses a more curvaceous female body ideal than the White community (Rogers Wood & Petrie, 2010; Webb et al., 2013). This is often highlighted as a potential buffer against the development of restrained eating within the Black community (Anderson & Hay, 1985; Striegel-Moore et al., 2000). However, this ideal might also lead to increased anti-thin bias in the Black community (Aruguete

et al., 2004; Gordon et al., 2010). More research is needed to understand how weight stigma differs across different races/ethnicities.

This study has four aims: (1) to investigate whether anti-thin bias exists in a college sample; (2) to examine participants' perceived etiology of weight for underweight vignette characters; (3) to evaluate whether participants' individual characteristics (social comparison, conceptualization of beauty, and BMI) are associated with their vignette ratings; and (4) to investigate the possible health implications (e.g. disordered eating and self-esteem) of anti-thin bias. Research has not explored whether anti-thin bias continues into young adulthood. This age group is an important one to study because the transition to college is linked to increased body image concerns (Barker & Galambos, 2007; Cain, Epler, Steinley, Sher, & Watson, 2010), eating disorder symptomatology (Vohs, Heatherton, & Herrin, 2001), and weight gain (Deforche, Van Dyck, Deliens, De Bourdeaudhuij, 2015). Results will enhance insight into anti-thin bias, with the ultimate goal of informing body image, weight bias, and healthy weight management interventions.

Method

Power Analysis

G*Power software (Faul, Erdfelder, Buchner, Lang, 2009) was used to conduct an a priori power analysis to determine sample size. A meta-analysis of weight-based discrimination in the workplace revealed large effect sizes ($f^2 = .52$; Rudolph, Wells, Weller, Baltes, 2009). A previous study on anti-thin bias found a small effect size (f = .18; Tantleff-Dunn et al., 2009). Given that anti-thin bias is a relatively under researched topic, the more conservative effect size was used (f = .18). A 2 x 3 ANOVA was used to detect our smallest potential effect size, a total sample size of 341 was considered adequate (power $\ge .8$, $\alpha \le .05$), but the researcher aimed to recruit 480 (n = 80 per group) to account for missing or incomplete data and to obtain more diversity in the sample.

Participants

Participants were enrolled in psychology classes and received partial course credit for completing the study; 487 people completed the informed consent, 434 people completed the second part of the survey, 2 people were deleted for completing less than 60% of the questionnaires, and 55 people were excluded from the analyses for not answering all three validation questions correctly. The final sample (n = 383) was 77.0% female (n = 295), 21.1% male (n = 81), 1.6% identified as an "other" gender (n = 6), and included the following racial/ethnic groups: 49.1% White (n = 188), 27.7% Black (n = 106), 12.5% Latino/a/Hispanic (n = 48), 24.3% Asian (n = 93), 0.3% Hawaiian (n = 1), 2.3% Pacific Islander (n = 9), and 2.3% Native American (n = 9). Students were instructed to choose all races/ethnicities that applied. Participants' mean age was 18.99 (SD = 2.45) and mean BMI was 24.30 with a range from underweight (BMI = 15.64) to obese (BMI = 49.60); 69.7% (n = 267) were first-years, 14.4% (n = 55) were sophomores, 12.0% (n = 46) were juniors, 3.1% (n = 12) were seniors, and 0.5% (n = 2) were graduate students.

Vignette Selection

Vignette studies are widely used in the social and behavioral sciences to assess attitudes and related constructs when experimental manipulation is unethical or impractical (Evans et al., 2015). A systematic review of these types of studies found high construct validity of vignettes that are based on previous literature and are between 50 and 500 words (Evans et al., 2015). Vignettes developed for this study met these guidelines and used a factorial 2 (vignette race: White and Black) x 3 (vignette weight status: slightly underweight, normal weight, and slightly overweight) design. Participants were randomly assigned to one of six vignette conditions (underweight/White, normal weight/White, overweight/White, underweight/Black, normal weight/Black, overweight/Black). All the vignettes described a female character. Vignette details were adapted from a previous weight bias vignette study used by Mussap, Manger, and Gold (2016). Height of the vignette character was determined from the current average female height in the United States (HHS, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], National Center for Health Statistics [NCHS], 2016). Body weight was based on Swami and colleagues' (2008) study and dress size was based on Cundall and Guo's (2017) study (Appendix A).

Measures

Demographic information. This questionnaire asked participants their age, year in school, race/ethnicity, and gender (Appendix B). Additionally, participants were asked to report their height and weight in order to calculate BMI. Although self-reported BMI is subject to error, studies find that self-reported BMI and measured BMI are highly correlated in primarily normal weight samples (Gorber, Tremblay, Moher, & Gorber, 2007; Stommel & Schoenborn, 2009), and is an appropriate methodology in studies such as the current one, in which investigator-conducted anthropometric assessments are impractical.

Validation questions. Participants were asked three questions to assess whether they attended to the content of the vignettes. Items included: "Was the person in the vignette male or female?" and "What was the person's race?" Consistent with prior research, participants also were asked to describe the vignette character's weight (Allison & Lee, 2015; Wade & Dimaria, 2003; Appendix C).

Fat Phobia Scale (FPS). Participants rated vignettes on various characteristics adapted from Robinson, Bacon, and O'Reilly's FPS (Appendix D; 1993). The adapted measure consists

of 36 of the original 50 items (14 items were deleted because they were repetitive or irrelevant to the topic of anti-thin bias). This shortened measure was used in a previous study examining perceptions of underweight women (Tantleff-Dunn et al., 2009). The scale consists of bipolar adjectives (i.e. Lazy...Industrious, Unfriendly...Friendly) and asks respondents to rate individuals depicted in vignettes on a scale ranging from one to five, where one indicates more negative perceptions and five indicates more positive perceptions. All of the items are added together to get an FPS total score. Higher FPS total scores indicate that the individual is more likeable. Construct validity for the original scale was demonstrated through reductions in fat phobia after a body image intervention (Robinson et al., 1993). A previous study using this measure to investigate anti-thin bias found that it yielded internally consistent scores (Cronbach's alpha = .82; Tantleff-Dunn et al., 2009). Cronbach's alpha was .90 in the current study.

Etiology of weight. Participants were asked to indicate the extent to which 11 factors contributed to the weight of the character depicted in the vignette. These items were originally developed for a study investigating beliefs about the etiology of obesity (Appendix E; Foster et al., 2003). They have subsequently been used in several other weight bias studies (Puhl et al., 2015; Puhl, Latner, King, & Luedicke, 2014). Items 1-3 and item 9 were changed to enhance assessment of anti-thin (vs. anti-fat) bias. Specifically, 'Physical inactivity' was changed to 'physical activity,' 'overeating' was changed to 'eating habits,' 'high fat diet' was changed to 'fat in one's diet,' and 'lack of willpower' was changed to 'willpower.' Subscales of this measure include biological factors and behavioral factors (Foster et al., 2003). Additionally, an item (i.e., 'eating disorder') was added to this measure in the current study. Participants are asked to rate the importance of each factor in influencing the vignette character's weight.

Responses are measured on a five-point scale (1 = not at all important' to 5 = 'extremely important'). This measure demonstrates convergent validity via expected associations with weight bias and BMI (Puhl et al., 2014). Cronbach's alphas for all of the subscales ranged from .70 to .88 in a previous study (Puhl et al., 2015). In the current study, Cronbach's alphas were fair based on Pontekotto and Ruckdeschel's (2007) estimates: .76 (behavioral subscale) and .70 (biological subscale).

Marlowe-Crowne Social Desirability Scale (MCSD). A brief version of the Marlowe-Crowne Social Desirability Scale (MCSD) was used to assess the socially desirability of responses (Appendix F; Crowne & Marlowe, 1960). This measure includes 13 statements to which participants answer *yes* or *no*. An example item is, "I have never deliberately said something that hurt someone's feelings." The shortened version has demonstrated acceptable reliability and concurrent validity (Reynolds, 1982). In the current study, initial assessment of internal consistency (alpha) was .68. Item-level analysis indicated that items 10 and 13 were reducing the internal consistency of the scale in the current sample. Thus, items 10 and 13 were deleted. Cronbach's alpha for the current study was .70 after these items were deleted.

Iowa-Netherlands Comparison Orientation Measure (INCOM). General social comparison was measured using the INCOM (Appendix G; Gibbons & Buunk, 1999). This measure includes 11 items rated on a five-point scale ranging from *disagree strongly* to *agree strongly*. Higher scores indicate a greater tendency to engage in social comparisons across several life domains. An example item is "I always pay a lot of attention to how I do things compared with how others do things." Evidence for this measure's convergent validity includes expected associations with depression, self-esteem, and neuroticism. This scale demonstrated

adequate internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha = .78-.85; Gibbons & Buunk, 1999). Cronbach's alpha was .77 in the current study.

Physical Appearance Comparison Scale-Revised (PACS-R). Physical social comparison was measured using the PACS-R (Appendix H; Schaefer & Thompson, 2014). The PACS-R consists of 11 items rated on a five-point scale ranging from *never* to *always;* higher scores indicate a greater tendency to compare one's appearance with others. An example item includes: "When I'm out in public, I compare my physical appearance to the appearance of others." This measure's convergent validity was demonstrated via its expected associations with eating pathology, internalization of appearance ideals, and appearance related pressures from peers, family, and the media. This scale yielded internally consistent scores (Cronbach's alpha = .97; Schaefer & Thompson, 2014). Cronbach's alpha for the current study was .96.

Broad Conceptualization of Beauty Scale (BCBS). The BCBS assesses the extent to which participants define beauty based on a wide variety of internal and external characteristics (Appendix I; Tylka & Iannantuono, 2016). An example item is "I think that a wide variety of body shapes are beautiful for women." The BCBS consists of nine items rated on a seven-point scale ranging from *strongly disagree* to *strongly agree*. Evidence for this measure's convergent validity includes expected associations with anti-fat attitudes, thin-ideal internalization, and body appreciation. The scale also demonstrated good internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha = .88, Tylka & Iannantuono, 2016). Cronbach's alpha was .83 in the current study.

The Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSES). The RSES is a 10-item measure of general self-esteem (Appendix J; Rosenberg, 1965). An example item includes "I feel that I have a number of good qualities". Each item is rated on a scale ranging from one (*strongly agree*) to four (*strongly disagree*). Items are summed and averaged to yield a total self-esteem score.

Higher scores reflect higher self-esteem. Prior research supports this measure's internal consistency; Cronbach's alpha = .90 for women and .89 for men (Tylka & Mallinckrodt, 2006). In addition, the RSES's construct validity was demonstrated via its associations with optimism (Tylka & Mallinckrodt, 2006). Cronbach's alpha for the current study was .90.

Eating Disorder Examination Questionnaire (EDE-Q). Disordered eating behaviors were assessed using the EDE-Q (Appendix K; Fairburn & Beglin, 1994). This 36-item measure was adapted from the Eating Disorder Examination interview (EDE, Cooper & Fairburn, 1993). This measure includes four subscales: eating concern, shape concern, weight concern, and dietary restraint. Example items include: "Have you gone for long periods of time (8 hours or more) without eating anything in order to influence your shape or weight?" and "Have you been afraid of losing control over eating?" The EDE-Q assesses the occurrence of symptoms in the past 28 days and each item is rated on a scale ranging from zero (no days/not at all) to six (every *day/markedly*). Evidence of this measure's construct validity includes its high correlation with the EDE (Mond, Hay, Rogers, Owen, & Beumont, 2004). Test-retest reliability over a two-week time period ranged from .81 - .90 for all subscales (Luce & Crowther, 1997). Also, the measure demonstrated good internal consistency for the overall score (Cronbach's alpha = .90) and the subscales had alpha levels of .70 (restraint), .73 (eating concern), .83 (shape concern), and .90 (weight concern; Peterson et al., 2007). Cronbach's alphas in the current study were as follows: .80 (dietary restraint), .91 (shape concern), .85 (weight concern), .79 (eating concern), and .72 (global eating disorder score).

Procedure

Virginia Commonwealth University's Institutional Review Board approved this study. Participants had to be at least 18 years old to enroll, and were recruited through SONA, an online research management system. Participants were informed that the purpose of the study was to investigate factors associated with perceptions of women. The actual title and purpose of the study were initially withheld from participants to reduce socially desirable responses. Informed consent was completed online prior to data collection through REDCap (Research Electronic Data Capture; Harris et al., 2009). Participants who consented were then randomly assigned (using a random number generator) to one of six groups and received an email that directed them to additional surveys within REDCap. Participants first read the vignette followed by validation questions. Next, they answered questions about the person in the vignette and then completed the measures described above regarding their own body image, self-esteem, and eating behaviors.

Data Preparation

REDCap 7.4.22 (Harris et al., 2009) was used for data entry and SPSS 24.0 was used for data analyses. Descriptive statistics, including frequencies, means, and standard deviations were calculated to verify that randomization was successful and to ensure that the data met statistical assumptions of the planned tests. Answers to the validation questions were checked prior to analyses. Given previous research studies using vignette measures (Allison & Lee, 2014; Wade & Dimaria, 2003), participants (n = 55) who did not answer all three validation questions correctly were not included in any analyses. Statistical significance was tested at p < .05. The final sample included 383 participants.

Data Analyses

Aim I. The first aim of the study was to investigate the presence of anti-thin bias in college students. It was hypothesized that:

(1) There would be a main effect of weight status on personality ratings as measured by the FPS (1993) total score such that (a) underweight vignette characters would be perceived more negatively than normal weight vignette characters, and (b) underweight vignette characters would be perceived more positively than overweight vignette characters.

(2) There would be an interaction effect between weight status and race of the vignette character such that Black vignette characters would be rated more favorably on personality ratings measured by the FPS (1993) at a higher weight status. In contrast, White vignette characters would be rated less favorably at a higher weight status.

Hypotheses 1-2 were assessed by a 2 x 3 factorial analysis of variance (ANOVA), a statistical technique that examines mean differences in a dependent variable at different levels of two or more independent variables (Tabachnick, Fidell, & Osterlind, 2001). The overall rating of the vignette character from the FPS was entered as the dependent variable and weight status and race were entered as independent variables. Two planned contrasts were conducted after the ANOVA from a priori hypotheses 1a and 1b to determine if there were mean differences in personality ratings based on different weight statuses. A Tukey's HSD post-hoc test was run following the ANOVA to evaluate hypothesis 2 and assess the nature of the interaction. A Tukey's HSD post-hoc test was used because it is a more conservative approach than Fisher's LSD post-hoc test and does not inflate the probability of Type I error as much as Fisher's LSD post-hoc procedure (Keppel & Wickens, 2004).

Aim II. The second aim of the study was to examine the relation between anti-thin bias and attributions of weight. It was hypothesized that:

(3) Underweight vignette characters' weights would be more likely than normal weight vignette characters to be attributed to behavioral factors, rather than biological factors, as measured by the etiology of weight scale. Hypothesis 3 was tested using a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA). This technique enables examination of mean differences in the attributions of weight depending on the vignette character's weight and race status. Tukey HSD post-hoc tests were conducted to determine if the mean score for behavioral and biological subscales for underweight characters differed from that of normal weight characters.

Aim III. The third aim of the study was to evaluate whether individual characteristics (social comparison, broad conceptualization of beauty, BMI) were associated with ratings of the vignette characters. It was hypothesized that:

(4) Positive ratings of the underweight vignette character would be associated with a low participant BMI, low general and physical social comparison, and high levels of broad conceptualization of beauty.

A simultaneous multiple regression analysis was conducted to test hypothesis 4. The overall rating of the vignette character as measured by the Fat Phobia Scale was entered as the dependent variable and the rest of the variables were entered simultaneously as independent variables. Squared semipartial correlation coefficients were calculated to determine which independent variables account for significant variance in the dependent variable.

Aim IV. The fourth aim of the study was to investigate the correlates of anti-thin bias. It was hypothesized that:

(5) Anti-thin bias, (as measured by lower ratings of underweight vignette characters) would be associated with (a) self-esteem and (b) disordered eating.

Hypotheses 5a and 5b were tested with a bivariate Pearson product-moment correlation test. Two-tailed tests were used to test significance of the correlations due to the lack of research on anti-thin bias.

Results

Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive statistics (by group) for each measure and relevant subscales are presented in Table 1. A review of each scale's skewness and kurtosis indicated that each subscale was approximately normally distributed except for the EDE-Q Eating Concern subscale, which had a skewness value of 1.26. This indicates that there were more people that had lower Eating concern scores, which is to be expected given that disordered eating behaviors are not normally distributed. Thus, all subscales were included in the following analyses.

Table 1.

Measures			Group			
	White &	White & Normal	White &	Black &	Black & Normal	Black &
	Underweight	Weight	Overweight	Underweight	Weight	Overweight
	(<i>n</i> = 59)	(n = 70)	(<i>n</i> = 61)	(n = 62)	(n = 69)	(<i>n</i> = 62)
RSES Total	29.92 (6.35)	29.55 (6.17)	27.95 (5.73)	28.42 (6.06)	28.33 (5.94)	29.97 (5.35)
INCOM Total	39.61 (6.60)	38.52 (5.19)	39.50 (5.68)	39.19 (6.23)	40.00 (5.80)	38.29 (6.91)
PACSR Total	21.64 (12.31)	20.54 (11.53)	23.08 (12.07)	20.05 (11.56)	21.07 (11.59)	21.58 (11.97)
MCSD Total	6.49 (2.65)	6.43 (2.58)	7.20 (2.67)	6.74 (3.01)	6.88 (3.03)	6.48 (2.67)
EDE-Q Shape Concern	2.91 (1.66)	2.86 (1.58)	3.18 (1.49)	2.71 (1.60)	2.85 (1.65)	2.77 (1.29)
EDE-Q Weight Concern	2.53 (1.69)	2.73 (1.70)	2.82 (1.40)	2.48 (1.60)	2.55 (1.70)	2.50 (1.29)
EDE-Q Eating Concern	1.77 (1.28)	1.64 (1.22)	1.78 (1.17)	1.51 (1.10)	1.65 (1.12)	1.46 (1.07)
EDE-Q Restraint	2.26 (1.22)	2.43 (1.23)	2.28 (1.19)	2.30 (1.27)	2.20 (1.22)	2.27 (1.18)
Global EDE-Q Score	2.37 (1.33)	2.42 (1.29)	2.52 (1.17)	2.25 (1.25)	2.31 (1.31)	2.25 (0.99)
BCBS Total	6.08 (0.74)	5.95 (0.78)	5.69 (1.01)	5.85 (0.95)	5.84 (0.83)	5.91 (1.06)
FPS Total	119.02 (14.21)	127.62 (14.78)	124.27 (16.03)	125.45 (14.79)	133.23 (16.02)	124.39 (15.44)

Means and Standard Deviations on Measures by Group

Note. RSES = Rosenburg Self-Esteem Survey; INCOM = Iowa-Netherlands Comparison Orientation Measure; PACS-R = Physical Appearance Comparison Scale-Revised; MCSD = Marlowe-Crowne Social Desirability Scale; EDE-Q = Eating Disorder Examination Questionnaire; BCBS = Broad Conceptualization of Beauty Scale; FPS = Fat Phobia Scale.
Personality Characteristics of the Vignette Character

A two-way, between groups (2x3) ANOVA was conducted to explore the impact of the vignette character's weight status and race on the overall perception of favorable personality characteristics. Social desirability (MCSD) and fat phobia (FPS) total scores were not significantly correlated, r(382) = .001, p = .98. Thus, social desirability was not entered as a covariate in the following analyses. There was a significant main effect of the vignette character's race on the overall perception, F(1, 377) = 6.46, p = .01, partial $\eta^2 = .02$ such that Black vignette characters were perceived more positively than White vignette characters. Additionally, there was a significant main effect of the vignette character's weight on the overall perception, F(2, 377) = 10.19, p < .001, partial $\eta^2 = .05$. Post-hoc tests using Tukey HSD revealed that the normal weight vignette characters were perceived significantly more favorably than both the underweight vignette characters (p < .001) and the overweight vignette characters (p = .005). Perceptions of overweight and underweight vignette characters were not significantly different (p = .52); nor did the interaction of the vignette character's race and weight status significantly affect overall perceptions, F(2, 377) = 1.69, p = .19, partial $\eta^2 = .01$ (see Figure 1). This indicates that there is not enough evidence to assume that Black and White vignette characters differed on likeability as a function of weight status.



Figure 1. Mean ratings of vignette characters as a function of weight (underweight, normal weight, and overweight) and race (White and Black).

Point biserial correlations were run to see if the participant's race/ethnicity was associated with their overall perception (as measured by the FPS total score) of Black vignette characters. There was a significant positive correlation between Hispanic/Latino participants and their rating of Black vignette characters, r(191) = .153, p = .03.

An independent samples t-test was performed to determine if there was a significant difference between Black (M = 125.45, SD = 14.79) and White (M = 119.02, SD = 14.21) underweight vignette characters on perceived likeability (as measured by the FPS total score). FPS total score was entered as the criterion variable. Findings indicated a significant difference in perceptions between Black and White underweight characters t(118.98) = -2.44, p = .02 such that White underweight characters were perceived more negatively than Black underweight characters.

Planned linear contrasts were conducted to determine if there were mean differences between normal weight and underweight vignette characters on specific adjectives. In particular, underweight vignette characters were perceived as more depressed, shapeless, moody, cold, insecure, and uptight than normal weight vignette characters. For complete results, see Table 2.

Table 2.

Means and Standard Deviations on Adjectives.

Adjectives	Underweight	Normal Weight
Lazy – Industrious	3.73 (.89)	3.86 (.87)
Sloppy – Neat	3.74 (.79)	3.85 (.89)
Nonassertive – Assertive	3.13 (.99)	3.16 (.86)
No willpower – Has willpower	3.88 (.95)	3.82 (.86)
Depressed – Happy*	3.50 (.99)	4.09 (.78)
Unambitious – Ambitious	3.87 (.92)	4.01 (.99)
Unattractive – Attractive	3.66 (.88)	3.72 (.84)
Poor self-control – Good self-	3.68 (1.00)	3.90 (.87)
control		
Ineffective – Effective	3.80 (.86)	3.85 (.92)
Slow – Fast	3.47 (.79)	3.45 (.81)
Careless – Careful	3.65 (.86)	3.76 (.91)
Inactive – Active*	3.55 (1.13)	3.83 (1.08)
Tries to please people – Does not	2.55 (1.01)	2.56 (.98)
try to please people		
Selfish – Selfless	3.34 (.79)	3.42 (.82)
Passive – Aggressive*	2.34 (.80)	2.60 (.80)
Indirect – Direct	3.11 (.90)	3.26 (.92)
Shapeless – Shapely*	2.63 (1.00)	3.29 (.90)
Moody – Even-tempered*	3.28 (.93)	3.58 (.82)
Insecure – Secure*	2.71 (1.04)	3.53 (1.00)
Dirty – Clean	3.77 (.83)	3.76 (.91)
Low self-esteem – High self-	2.75 (1.00)	3.44 (.80)
esteem*		
Does not attend to appearance –	3.58 (1.01)	3.85 (.83)
Attends to appearance*		
Having no endurance – Having	3.35 (1.00)	3.62 (.96)
endurance*		
Unpopular - Popular	3.60 (.93)	3.78 (.87)
Humorless – Humorous	3.49 (.82)	3.58 (.82)
Weak – Strong*	3.07 (1.01)	3.55 (.91)
Conforming – Individualistic	3.21 (.96)	3.14 (1.01)
Dependent – Independent	3.76 (.95)	3.71 (.98)
Irritable – Good-natured	3.93 (.81)	4.04 (.79)
Likes food – Dislikes food*	3.07 (1.07)	3.72 (.88)
Uptight – Easygoing*	3.65 (.98)	3.91 (.84)
Stupid – Smart	4.03 (.82)	4.13 (.85)
Overeats – Undereats*	2.06 (.88)	3.01 (.59)
Cold – Warm*	3.65 (.96)	3.90 (.79)
Hard to talk to – Easy to talk to	3.91 (.88)	3.97 (.97)
Unfriendly – Friendly	4.27 (.88)	4.24 (.96)

* indicates a significant difference

Perceived Etiology of Weight

Two between-subjects MANOVAs were conducted to examine differences in group assignment on the biological and behavioral subscales of the etiology of weight measure. Weight was collapsed to examine differences in perceptions of underweight, normal weight, and overweight vignette characters regarding the perceived etiology of their weight status. Weight was entered as the independent variable and the etiology of weight subscales were entered as the dependent variables. Box's M test for homogeneity of the variance-covariance matrices was not significant F (6, 3284789) = .95, p = .46, which indicates that the homogeneity of variancecovariance assumption was met. Scores on the dependent variables significantly differed across groups, Pillai's Trace = .08, F(4, 760) = 8.22, p < .001, partial $\eta^2 = .04$. Univariate tests revealed significant group differences in the behavioral subscale, F(2, 380) = 3.47, p = .03 and the biological subscale F(2, 380) = 13.90, p < .001. Tukey HSD post-hoc tests revealed that underweight characters' weights (M = 14.23, SD = 3.06) were significantly more likely to be attributed to biological factors than those of normal weight characters (M = 12.17, SD = 3.28) and overweight characters (M = 12.90, SD = 3.17). Further, there was a marginally significant difference (p = .106) between underweight characters' weights (M = 23.74, SD = 5.06) and normal weight characters' weights (M = 22.57, SD = 4.44) on behavioral factors. See Table 3 for means and standard deviations by weight group.

Table 3.

Means and Standard Deviations on Etiology of Weight Subscales by Weight
Subscale
Group

	Underweight	Normal Weight	Overweight	
Biological Subscale	14.23 (3.06)	12.17 (3.28)	12.90 (3.17)	
Behavioral Subscale	23.74 (5.06)	22.57 (4.44)	23.96 (4.36)	

Planned contrasts evaluated potential differences between underweight and normal weight women on specific items. Of note, underweight characters' weights were significantly more likely to be attributed to eating disorders, psychological problems, repeated dieting, and poor nutritional knowledge than normal weight characters' weights. See Table 4 for full results. Table 4.

Underweight	Normal Weight
3.39 (1.05)	3.31 (.92)
3.99 (.94)	3.78 (.93)
3.50 (1.08)	3.22 (1.02)
3.65 (.96)	3.18 (1.06)
3.49 (1.07)	3.12 (1.03)
3.54 (1.21)	2.97 (1.13)
3.31 (1.22)	2.74 (1.14)
2.57 (1.12)	2.76 (.97)
3.49 (1.18)	3.68 (.95)
3.68 (1.16)	3.18 (1.10)
3.36 (1.17)	3.01 (1.20)
4.08 (1.09)	3.38 (1.41)
	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c } \hline Underweight \\ \hline 3.39 (1.05) \\ \hline 3.99 (.94) \\ \hline 3.50 (1.08) \\ \hline 3.65 (.96) \\ \hline 3.49 (1.07) \\ \hline 3.54 (1.21) \\ \hline 3.31 (1.22) \\ \hline 2.57 (1.12) \\ \hline 3.49 (1.18) \\ \hline 3.68 (1.16) \\ \hline 3.36 (1.17) \\ \hline 4.08 (1.09) \end{tabular}$

Means and Standard Deviations on Perceived Etiology

* indicates a significant difference between groups

Next, a between-subjects MANOVA was conducted to determine whether there were significant differences based on both race and weight of the vignette character. Weight status and race were combined and entered as the independent variable and the etiology of weight subscales were entered as the dependent variables. Box's M test for homogeneity of the variance-covariance matrices was not significant F(15, 744018) = 1.07, p = .38, which indicates that the homogeneity of variance-covariance assumption was met. Scores on the dependent variables significantly differed across groups, Pillai's Trace = .10, F(10, 754) = 4.11, p < .001, partial $\eta^2 = .05$. Univariate tests revealed significant group differences in the behavioral subscale, F(5, 377) = 2.92, p = .01 and the biological subscale, F(5, 377) = 6.01, p < .001. Tukey HSD post-hoc tests revealed that White (M = 14.53, SD = 3.15) and Black (M = 13.95, SD = 2.97)

underweight characters' weights were more likely to be attributed to biological factors than White (M = 11.94, SD = 3.38) and Black (M = 12.39, SD = 3.19) normal weight characters. There was not a significant difference between White (M = 24.49, SD = 5.40) and Black (M = 23.02, SD = 4.63) underweight characters and White (M = 22.33, SD = 4.21) and Black (M = 22.81, SD = 4.68) normal weight characters on the behavioral subscale. See Table 5 for means and standard deviations on subscales by group.

Pairwise comparisons were conducted to see if there was a significant difference between Black and White underweight characters regarding attributions of eating disorders and psychological problems for the characters' weights. Results revealed that there was a significant difference between the groups for psychological problems, t (376) = 2.24, p = .03 such that White underweight characters' weights were significantly more likely to be attributed to psychological problems than Black underweight characters. There was not a significant difference between White and Black underweight characters on attributions of eating disorders, t(376) = 1.04, p = .24.

Table 5.

Subscales			Group			
	White &	White & Normal	White &	Black &	Black & Normal	Black &
	Underweight	Weight	Overweight	Underweight	Weight	Overweight
Behavioral Subscale	24.49 (5.40)	22.33 (4.21)	23.11 (4.09)	23.02 (4.63)	22.81 (4.68)	24.79 (4.50)
Biological Subscale	14.53 (3.15)	11.94 (3.37)	12.67 (2.89)	13.95 (2.97)	12.39 (3.19)	13.13 (3.42)

Means and Standard Deviations on Etiology of Weight Subscales by Group

Associations with Anti-Thin Bias

A simultaneous multiple regression examined associations between several independent variables and the overall rating of underweight vignette characters. Four independent variables were entered into the model: BMI, general social comparison, physical social comparison, and broad conceptualization of beauty (BCBS). The model was not significantly correlated with the overall rating of underweight characters, F(4, 114) = 1.49, p = .21, $R^2 = .05$. There was no evidence to indicate that BMI, t(114) = 1.24, p = .22, general social comparison, t(114) = 1.63, p = .11, or BCBS, t(114) = -.26, p = .79, were associated with the overall rating of underweight vignette characters. However, physical social comparison, $\beta = -.25$, t(114) = -2.28, p = .03 was significantly associated with overall ratings of underweight characters. A significant but small correlation, $r^2 = .04$, between physical social comparison and ratings of underweight women was maintained after controlling for BMI, BCBS, and general social comparison.

Correlates of Anti-Thin Bias

Pearson bivariate correlations examined the relation between ratings of underweight vignette characters and self-esteem and disordered eating symptomology. Results suggest that there was not a significant correlation between ratings of underweight vignette characters and self-esteem, r(119) = .01, p = .89 or global eating disorder score, r(119) = .10, p = .27. Furthermore, there were no significant correlations between ratings of the underweight vignette characters and any of the subscales of the EDE-Q.

Discussion

Weight bias literature has primarily focused on people with overweight and obesity despite some evidence that people with underweight or low normal weight BMIs also experience

weight discrimination at higher rates than people with BMIs in the normal range. Weight-related teasing of people with underweight or low normal weight BMIs has primarily been documented in children (Eisenberg et al., 2003; Neumark-Sztainer et al., 2002). Weight-based discrimination is associated with both poor mental and physical health regardless of BMI status (Puhl & Heuer, 2009; Schvey et al., 2014; Tomiyama, 2014; Wott & Carels, 2010). Therefore, it is important to examine weight bias across the BMI continuum. The current study investigated the presence of anti-thin bias, defined as the belief that people with lower BMIs have unfavorable personality characteristics, in a young adult sample. Additionally, the study explored the impact of race, and attributions regarding the etiology of weight, on perceptions of individuals with BMIs in the underweight range.

Perceived Personality Attributes Based on Weight and Race

Black vignette characters were perceived more favorably than White vignette characters regardless of weight status. These results differ from those of other studies, which found that Black vignette characters are typically perceived less favorably than White vignette characters, in studies where the majority of the participants are White (van Ryn & Burke, 2000; von Hippel, Silver, & Lynch, 2000). However, the current sample was 49% White, so it could be that the more positive perceptions of Black vignette characters were due to the greater diversity of the current sample. For instance, Hispanic/Latino participants rated the Black vignette characters more positively. The more positive perceptions of Black vignette characters could also be due to social desirability. People who score high on social desirability typically are less likely to report racist attitudes (Holmes, 2014). Social desirability was assessed in the current study, and was not found to influence vignette ratings. However, some researchers have noted that social desirability measures do not adequately control for misrepresentations of prejudiced attitudes (Holmes,

2014). Thus, it is possible that participants rated Black vignette characters more favorably in order to seem less prejudiced.

Hypotheses regarding the influence of weight status on the perceived likeability of vignette characters were partially supported in that normal weight characters were perceived more favorably than both underweight and overweight characters. There were no significant differences in participants' ratings of overweight and underweight women. This finding is surprising given that past studies have documented larger effect sizes for anti-fat bias (Puhl & Heuer, 2009) compared with anti-thin bias (Tantleff-Dunn et al., 2009). However, our results are more similar to those of a recent study that found that underweight celebrities received more negative appearance-related comments than both overweight and normal weight celebrities (McDonnell & Lin, 2016).

Underweight women were more likely to be viewed as depressed, shapeless, moody, cold, insecure, and uptight compared with normal weight women. Although the current study did not qualitatively investigate reasons behind anti-thin bias, there are several possibilities. A previous study on anti-thin bias found that thin women whose body weights were attributed to hereditary factors were considered conforming, insecure, and more likely to under eat than underweight women whose weights were due to cancer (Tantleff-Dunn et al., 2009). Thus, people might be more likely to discriminate against thin women, possibly due to jealousy regarding their conformity with a cultural body ideal (Beggan & DeAngelis, 2015). In the current study, for example, people who were higher in physical social comparison were more likely to attribute undesirable personality traits to underweight women. Thus, people who tend to compare their physical appearance to others might be more likely to disparage thin women in order to improve their own self-image. Additionally, anti-thin bias might be more prevalent in this

39

sample because body image ideals are shifting. For instance, women exposed to fit ideal images have greater increases in body dissatisfaction than women exposed to thin ideal images (Betz & Ramsey, 2017; Mulgrew & Tiggemann, 2016).

Perceived Etiology of Weight

The hypothesis regarding perceived etiology of weight was not supported; specifically, underweight vignette characters' weights were more likely to be attributed to biological factors than were those of normal weight vignette characters. Attribution theory of weight stigma suggests that weight-based prejudice is due in part to the belief that body weight is controllable (Puhl & Brownell, 2003; Weiner, Perry, & Magnusson, 1988). Attributing body weight to genetics or other factors seen as outside of one's control can result in more favorable perceptions of people with obesity (Ebneter, Latner, & O'Brien, 2011; Foster et al., 2003; Puhl et al., 2015). However, underweight women were perceived more negatively, despite the finding that most attributed their weights to biological factors. The current study did not offer an explanation for the character's body weight in the vignette. It could be that people wrongfully attribute vague information regarding body weight to personality characteristics or other internal factors. For example, Ross, Shivy, and Mazzeo (2009) found that people who are given ambiguous information about body weight etiology will stigmatize individuals with obesity at similar rates as people given a behavioral explanation for body weight. The belief that underweight characters' weights were more likely due to behavioral factors approached significance in the current sample. This result suggests that people might wrongfully attribute thin women's body weight to internal or controllable factors in the absence of more information.

Furthermore, recognizing that the cause of body weight is multidimensional might not be sufficient in counteracting weight bias. For instance, people report implicit anti-fat attitudes at

similar rates, regardless of whether genetic or behavioral explanations for body weight are provided (Teachman, Gapinski, Brownell, Rawlins, & Jeyaram, 2003). Thus, the current sample might have had less favorable perceptions of underweight women even though they recognized that their body weight was in part due to genetic factors.

Anti-thin bias might also reflect stigma against people with eating disorders. For instance, the current study found that underweight women's weights were more likely to be attributed to an eating disorder than were those of normal weight women. This study did not assess whether the majority of participants were psychology majors. It could be that psychology majors recognize that mental illnesses, specifically eating disorders, have a genetic component, which might explain why underweight women's weights were more likely to be attributed to biological factors (Kaye, 2008; Kaye et al., 2013). Therefore, future studies should control for knowledge about mental illnesses.

Results also revealed that participants thought White underweight women's BMIs were more likely to be due to psychological problems than were those of Black underweight women. Black underweight women were also less likely to be assigned negative personality characteristics than White underweight women. It could be that Black underweight women's weights were assumed to be due to other factors that were not included in the etiology of weight measure, such as a medical illness. For example, a prior study found that underweight women whose weights were attributed to cancer were perceived more positively than underweight women with an eating disorder (Tantleff-Dunn et al., 2009). Future studies could expand the etiology of weight measure to include other external factors as an explanation of body weight.

Interestingly, there was no difference in the perceived likelihood that Black and White underweight vignette characters had an eating disorder. This finding contradicts previous

41

research which suggests that Black women are less likely to be diagnosed with an eating disorder, despite experiencing eating pathology at rates similar to those of White women (Cachelin, Veisel, Barzegarnazari, & Striegel-Moore, 2000; Shaw, Ramirez, Trost, Randall, & Stice, 2004). It could be that the current sample recognized that eating disorders affect diverse populations and have diverse presentations. For example, White women have a greater likelihood of engaging in restrictive eating behaviors than Black women (Shuttlesworth & Zotter, 2011; Striegel-Moore et al., 2003). Whereas, Black women are more likely to engage in binge eating than White women (Perez & Joiner, 2003). Hence, future studies could be more specific about disordered eating behaviors.

Associations and Correlates of Anti-Thin Bias

The current study did not find a significant correlation between anti-thin bias and any of the following: broad conceptualization of beauty, BMI, general social comparison, disordered eating, or self-esteem. However, higher physical social comparison was significantly associated with lower ratings of underweight vignette characters. This finding is similar to past studies that found physical social comparison was related to more anti-fat attitudes (O'Brien, Hunter, Halberstadt, & Anderson, 2007) and a greater likelihood of engaging in weight discrimination (O'Brien, Latner, Ebneter, & Hunter, 2013). Consequently, physical social comparison might be an appropriate target for weight bias interventions.

Implications

The current study extends knowledge in the field by demonstrating that anti-thin bias exists in a college sample. Even in the absence of an explanation for body weight, people were more likely to attribute underweight women's BMIs to an eating disorder and psychological problems, compared to those of normal weight women. Given that mental illnesses, and specifically eating disorders, are highly stigmatized, these results suggest that women with lower BMIs might be viewed negatively by others (Murakami, Essayli, & Latner, 2016; Roehrig & McLean, 2010). Furthermore, the assumption that thinner women are more likely to suffer from an eating disorder is concerning because individuals with eating disorders can have a range of weights (Bulik, Marcus, Zerwas, Levine, & La Via, 2012; Franko et al., 2012). Thus, this stereotype could lead to under identification of eating disorders in people with overweight or normal weight BMIs.

It is important to combat weight bias across the BMI spectrum because the experience of stigma accounts for more variance in poorer health than one's actual weight status (Bacon & Aphramor, 2011; Sutin, Robinson, Daly, & Terracciano, 2016; Wott & Carels, 2010). Most weight bias interventions focus on people with overweight and obesity, despite some evidence that people with underweight or low normal weight BMIs experience weight discrimination at higher rates than normal weight people (Eisenberg et al., 2003; Neumark-Sztainer et al., 2002; Swami et al., 2008). Furthermore, most body image interventions focus on lowering thin ideal internalization, which might not be as relevant to contemporary body image ideals (Betz & Ramsey, 2017; Karazsia, Murnen, & Tylka, 2016; Vinoski, Webb, Warren-Findlow, Brewer, & Kiffmeyer, 2017). The current study found evidence of anti-thin bias. Therefore, this phenomenon warrants further research and could help inform weight bias, body image, and healthy weight interventions.

Strengths and Limitations

This project made several unique contributions to the literature. First, it demonstrated that anti-thin bias continues into young adulthood. Past studies on the perceptions of underweight women provided a singular explanation for the vignette character's weight. This is the first study to use a validated measure, with a range of potential etiologies, to enhance understanding of attributions of underweight. This is important because attributions of weight might influence anti-thin bias. Also, the use of vignettes allowed systematic manipulation of race and weight of the vignette character. This design enabled comparisons of the vignettes while holding other variables constant.

Nonetheless, this study has several limitations. It used a convenience sampling method, which limits generalizability of the results to predominantly young, educated individuals. In addition, measures were completed online, so the research environment was not standardized and participants could have become distracted during the study. However, the validation questions attempted to mitigate this probability. Moreover, the study did not use photographs, which might help participants visualize the vignette characters. Although the use of photographs was considered, it would be difficult to manipulate the race of the photographs and keep all other variables constant. Thus, dress size information was included in the vignette to help participants visualize the character's size. Lastly, responses to questionnaires might be biased by social desirability. A social desirability questionnaire was included to capture these potential biases, but answers might not reflect participants' true attitudes.

Future Directions

More research is needed to investigate the potential impact of anti-thin bias. It is unclear whether holding anti-thin attitudes is related to unhealthy behaviors, such as exercise avoidance or disordered eating. The current project found a correlation between physical social comparison and anti-thin bias, but future studies could investigate possible mediators between this relation, as well as moderators that might buffer people from holding anti-thin attitudes. Moreover, there is not a lot of research regarding how weight discrimination might affect people of lower body

weights. Future research could utilize qualitative methods to enhance understanding of how people might experience weight shaming at lower BMIs.

Further, additional research is needed to understand how anti-thin bias might differentially affect men. Men might be more likely to experience weight discrimination at lower body weights due to different body image standards (Bassett-Gunter, McEwan, & Kamarhie, 2017; Kelly et al., 2014).

This study should be replicated in a larger, more diverse sample, which might further elucidate how anti-thin bias differentially impacts people of different racial and ethnic identities. The current study specifically examined perceptions of slightly underweight women, but future research should investigate whether low normal weight women also experience anti-thin bias. In conclusion, the current study offers evidence that anti-thin bias exists in a college sample, but more research is necessary to understand the implications of weight discrimination of people at lower body weights.

References

Abena, C. (2013). From thinspo to fitspiration: How social media could be affecting your body *image*. Retrieved 1/28, 2017, from http://www.collegefashion.net/college-life/from-thinspo-to-fitspiration-how-social-media-could-be-affecting-your-body-image/

Agthe, M., Spörrle, M., & Maner, J. K. (2010). Don't hate me because I'm beautiful: Antiattractiveness bias in organizational evaluation and decision making. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, *46*(6), 1151-1154.

https://dx.doi.org /10.1016/j.jesp.2010.05.007

- Agthe, M., Spörrle, M., & Maner, J. K. (2011). Does being attractive always help? Positive and negative effects of attractiveness on social decision making. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 37(8), 1042-1054. https://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0146167211410355
- Alicke, M. D. (2000). Evaluating social comparison targets. In *Handbook of Social Comparison* (pp. 271-293). Springer US.
- Allison, M., & Lee, C. (2014). Too fat, too thin: Understanding bias against overweight and underweight in an Australian female university student sample. *Psychology & Health*, 30(2), 189–202. https://doi.org/10.1080/08870446.2014.954575
- Andersen, A. E., & Hay, A. (1985). Racial and socioeconomic: Influences in anorexia nervosa and bulimia. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 4(4), 479-487. http://dx.doi.org 10.1002/1098-108X(198511)4:4<479::AID-EAT2260040408>3.0.CO;2-R
- Annus, A., Smith, G., Fischer, S., Hendricks, M., & Williams, S. (2007). Associations among family-of-origin food-related experiences, expectancies, and disordered eating. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 40(2), 179-186. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/eat.20346

- Aruguete, M., Nickleberry, L., & Yates, A. (2004). Acculturation, body image, and eating attitudes among Black and White college students. *North American Journal of Psychology*, 6(3).
- Awad, G., Norwood, C., Taylor, D., Martinez, M., McClain, S., Jones, B., ...& Chapman-Hilliard, C. (2015). Beauty and body image concerns among African American college women. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 41(6), 540-564. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0095798414550864
- Bacon, L., & Aphramor, L. (2011). Weight science: Evaluating the evidence for a paradigm shift. *Nutrition Journal*, 10(9). https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2891-10-9
- Bailey, S. D., & Ricciardelli, L. A. (2010). Social comparisons, appearance related comments, contingent self-esteem and their relationships with body dissatisfaction and eating disturbance among women. *Eating Behaviors*, 11(2), 107-112. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2009.12.001
- Bamber, D., Cockerill, I., Rodgers, S., & Carroll, D. (2003). Diagnostic criteria for exercise dependence in women. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 37(5), 393. http://dx.doi.org/10.1556/JBA.1.2012.1.3
- Bassett-Gunter, R., McEwan, D., & Kamarhie, A. (2017). Physical activity and body image among men and boys: A meta-analysis. *Body Image*, 22, 114–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2017.06.007
- Barker, E. T., & Galambos, N. L. (2007). Body dissatisfaction, living away from parents, and poor social adjustment predict binge eating symptoms in young women making the transition to university. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *36*(7), 904-911. http://dx.doi.org /10.1007/s10964-006-9134-6

- Beggan, J. K., & DeAngelis, M. (2015). "Oh, My God, I Hate You:" The felt experience of being othered for being thin. *Symbolic Interaction*, 38(3), 371–392. https://doi.org/10.1002/symb.162
- Benton, C., & Karazsia, B. T. (2015). The effect of thin and muscular images on women's body satisfaction. *Body Image*, *13*, 22-27. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2014.11.001

Betz, D. E., & Ramsey, L. R. (2017). Should women be "All About That Bass?": Diverse bodyideal messages and women's body image. *Body Image*, 22, 18–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2017.04.004

- Blaine, B., & Williams, Z. (2004). Belief in the controllability of weight and attributions to prejudice among heavyweight women. *Sex Roles*, 51(1), 79-84. http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/B:SERS.0000032315.95890.d9
- Boepple, L., & Thompson, J. K. (2016). A content analytic comparison of fitspiration and thinspiration websites. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 49(1), 98-101.
 http://dx.doi.org /10.1002/eat.22403
- Brownell, K. D. (Ed.). (2005). Weight bias: Nature, consequences, and remedies. Guilford Press.
- Bulik, C., & Allison, D. (2001). The genetic epidemiology of thinness. *Obesity Reviews*, 2(2), 107-115. http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1467-789x.2001.00030.x
- Bulik, C. M., Marcus, M. D., Zerwas, S., Levine, M. D., & La Via, M. (2012). The changing
 "Weightscape" of bulimia nervosa. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 169(10), 1031–
 1036. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2012.12010147
- Cachelin, F. M., Veisel, C., Barzegarnazari, E., & Striegel-Moore, R. H. (2000). Disordered eating, acculturation, and treatment-seeking in a community sample of Hispanic, Asian, Black, and White women. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 24(3), 244–253.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-6402.2000.tb00206.x

- Cain, A., Epler, A., Steinley, D., Sher, K., & Watson, D. (2010). Stability and change in patterns of concerns related to eating, weight, and shape in young adult women: A latent transition analysis. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*,119(2), 255-267. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0018117
- Cohen, J. (1992). A power primer. *Psychological Bulletin*, *112*(1), 155–159. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.112.1.155
- Cramer, P., & Steinwert, T. (1998). Thin is good, fat is bad: How early does it begin?. Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology, 19(3), 429-451. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S01933973(99)80049-5
- Crowne, D., & Marlowe, D. (1960). A new scale of social desirability independent of psychopathology. *Journal of Consulting Psychology*, 24(4), 349–354. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0047358
- Cundall, A., & Guo, K. (2017). Women gaze behaviour in assessing female bodies: the effects of clothing, body size, own body composition and body satisfaction. *Psychological Research*, 81(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00426-015-0726-1
- Davison, K., & Schmalz, D. (2006). Youth at risk of physical inactivity may benefit more from activity-related support than youth not at risk. *The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 3, 5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-3-5
- Dawson-Andoh, N. A., Gray, J. J., Soto, J. A., & Parker, S. (2011). Body shape and size depictions of African American women in JET magazine, 1953–2006. *Body Image*, 8(1), 86-89. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2010.09.006

- Deforche, B., Van Dyck, D., Deliens, T., & De Bourdeaudhuij, I. (2015). Changes in weight, physical activity, sedentary behaviour and dietary intake during the transition to higher education: a prospective study. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *12*(1), 16. http://dx.doi.org /10.1186/s12966-015-0173-9
- Dion, K., Berscheid, E., & Walster, E. (1972). What is beautiful is good. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 24(3), 285. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0033731
- Dishman, R., Hales, D., Pfeiffer, K., Felton, G., Saunders, R., Ward, D., ... & Pate, R. (2006).
 Physical self-concept and self-esteem mediate cross-sectional relations of physical activity and sport participation with depression symptoms among adolescent girls. *Health Psychology*, 25(3), 396-407. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.25.3.396
- Dittmar, H. (2005). Introduction to the special issue: Body image—vulnerability factors and processes linking sociocultural pressures and body dissatisfaction. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 24(8), 1081-1087. http://dx.doi.org/10.1521/jscp.2005.24.8.1081
- Dubois, L., Kyvik, K. O., Girard, M., Tatone-Tokuda, F., Pérusse, D., Hjelmborg, J., ... & Martin, N. G. (2012). Genetic and environmental contributions to weight, height, and BMI from birth to 19 years of age: an international study of over 12,000 twin pairs. *PLOS one*, *7*(2), e30153. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0030153
- Durso, L. E., & Latner, J. D. (2008). Understanding self-directed stigma: Development of the Weight Bias Internalization Scale. *Obesity*, 16(S2), S80-S86. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/oby.2008.448
- Ebneter, D. S., Latner, J. D., & O'Brien, K. S. (2011). Just world beliefs, causal beliefs, and acquaintance: Associations with stigma toward eating disorders and obesity. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *51*(5), 618–622. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PAID.2011.05.029

- Eisenberg, M. E., Neumark-Sztainer, D., & Story, M. (2003). Association of weight-based teasing and emotional well-being among adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 32(2), 121. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1054-139X(02)00610-9
- Evans, S. C., Roberts, M. C., Keeley, J. W., Blossom, J. B., Amaro, C. M., Garcia, A. M., ...
 Reed, G. M. (2015). Vignette methodologies for studying clinicians' decision-making:
 Validity, utility, and application in ICD-11 field studies. *International Journal of Clinical* and Health Psychology, 15(2), 160–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJCHP.2014.12.001
- Fairburn, C. G., & Beglin, S. J. (1994). Assessment of eating disorders: Interview or self-report questionnaire?. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 16(4), 363-370. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/1098-108X(199412)16:4<363::AID-EAT2260160405>3.0.CO;2-#
- Fairburn, C.G. & Cooper, Z. The Eating Disorder Examination (twelfth edition). In: CG Fairburn & GT Wilson (eds.). *Binge Eating: Nature, Assessment and Treatment*. (pp. 317-360). New York: Guilford Press, 1993.
- Fairburn, C. G., & Brownell, K. D. (2001). Eating disorders and obesity: A comprehensive handbook (2nd ed.). New York: Guilford Press.
- Falkner, N., Neumark-Sztainer, D., Story, M., Jeffery, R., Beuhring, T., & Resnick, M. (2001).
 Social, educational, and psychological correlates of weight status in adolescents. *Obesity Research*, 9(1), 32-42. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/oby.2001.5
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & amp; Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G*Power 3.1: tests for correlation and regression analyses. Behavior Research Methods, 41(4), 1149–60. http://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149

Fabian, L., & Thompson, J. (1989). Body image and eating disturbance in young

females. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 8(1), 63-74. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/1098-108X(198901)8:1<63::AID-EAT2260080107>3.0.CO;2-9

- Festinger, L. (1954). A theory of social comparison processes. *Human Relations*, 7(2), 117-140. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/001872675400700202
- Fitzsimmons-Craft, E. E. (2011). Social psychological theories of disordered eating in college women: Review and integration. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 31(7), 1224–1237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2011.07.011
- Ford, E., Maynard, L., & Li, C. (2014). Trends in mean waist circumference and abdominal obesity among US adults, 1999-2012. JAMA, 312(11), 1151-3. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/jama.2014.8362
- Foster, G. D., Wadden, T. A., Makris, A. P., Davidson, D., Sanderson, R. S., Allison, D. B., & Kessler, A. (2003). Primary care physicians' attitudes about obesity and its treatment. *Obesity Research*, 11(10), 1168–1177. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2003.161
- Franko, D. L., Thompson-Brenner, H., Thompson, D. R., Boisseau, C. L., Davis, A., Forbush, K. T., ... Wilson, G. T. (2012). Racial/ethnic differences in adults in randomized clinical trials of binge eating disorder. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 80(2), 186–195. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026700
- Freedman, R. E., Carter, M. M., Sbrocco, T., & Gray, J. J. (2004). Ethnic differences in preferences for female weight and waist-to-hip ratio: A comparison of African–American and White American college and community samples. *Eating Behaviors*, 5(3), 191-198. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2004.01.002

- Friedman, V. (2016, June 25). Don't ban photos of skinny models. *The New York Times*. Retrieved from http://www.nytimes.com
- Gibbons, F. X., & Buunk, B. P. (1999). Individual differences in social comparison:
 Development of a scale of social comparison orientation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 76(1), 129–142. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.76.1.129

Goldfein, J. A., Devlin, M. J., & Kamenetz, C. (2005). Eating Disorder ExaminationQuestionnaire with and without instruction to assess binge eating in patients with binge eating disorder. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, *37*(2), 107-111.
http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/eat.20075

- Gonçalves, S. F., & Gomes, A. R. (2012). Exercising for weight and shape reasons vs. health control reasons: The impact on eating disturbance and psychological functioning. *Eating Behaviors*, 13(2), 127-130. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2011.11.011
- Gordon, K. H., Castro, Y., Sitnikov, L., & Holm-Denoma, J. M. (2010). Cultural body shape ideals and eating disorder symptoms among White, Latina, and Black college women. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, *16*(2), 135. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0018671
- Gorber, S. C., Tremblay, M., Moher, D., & Gorber, B. (2007). A comparison of direct vs. selfreport measures for assessing height, weight and body mass index: a systematic review. *Obesity Reviews*, 8(4), 307-326. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-789X.2007.00347.x
- Grabe, S., Ward, L. M., & Hyde, J. S. (2008). The role of the media in body image concerns among women: a meta-analysis of experimental and correlational studies. *Psychological Bulletin*, 134(3), 460. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.134.3.460

- Grilo, C. M., & Pogue-Geile, M. F. (1991). The nature of environmental influences on weight and obesity: A behavior genetic analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 110(3), 520. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.110.3.520
- Grilo, C. M., Wilfley, D. E., Brownell, K. D., & Rodin, J. (1994). Teasing, body image, and selfesteem in a clinical sample of obese women. *Addictive Behaviors*, 19(4), 443-450. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0306-4603(94)90066-3
- Groesz, L., Levine, M., & Murnen, S. (2002). The effect of experimental presentation of thin media images on body satisfaction: A meta-analytic review. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 31(1), 1-16. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/eat.10005
- Harris, P. A., Taylor, R., Thielke, R., Payne, J., Gonzalez, N., & Conde, J. G. (2009). Research electronic data capture (REDCap) – A metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform.
- Hastings, G., Stead, M., & Webb, J. (2004). Fear appeals in social marketing: Strategic and ethical reasons for concern. *Psychology & Marketing*, 21(11), 961-986. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/mar.20043
- Heinberg, L. J., & Thompson, J. K. (1992). The effects of figure size feedback (positive vs. negative) and target comparison group (particularistic vs. universalistic) on body image disturbance. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, *12*(4), 441-448.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/1098-108X(199212)12:4<441::AID-EAT2260120412>3.0.CO;2-#
- Holland, G. & Tiggemann, M. (2017). "Strong beats skinny every time": Disordered eating and compulsive exercise in women who post fitspiration on Instagram. *International Journal* of Eating Disorders., 50(1), 76-79. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/eat.22559

- Holmes, J. D. (2014). Impression management pressures on racial attitude surveys. *The Social Science Journal*, 51(2), 302–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SOSCIJ.2014.02.001
- Holt-Lunstad, J., Smith, T. B., & Layton, J. B. (2010). Social relationships and mortality risk: a meta-analytic review. *PLoS Med*, 7(7), e1000316. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1000316
- Homan, K., McHugh, E., Wells, D., Watson, C., & King, C. (2012). The effect of viewing ultrafit images on college women's body dissatisfaction. *Body Image*, 9(1), 50-56. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2011.07.006
- Hosoda, M., Stone-Romero, E. F., & Coats, G. (2003). The effects of physical attractiveness on job-related outcomes: A meta-analysis of experimental studies. *Personnel Psychology*, 56(2), 431-462. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.2003.tb00157.x
- Karazsia, B. T., Murnen, S. K., & Tylka, T. L. (2016). Is body dissatisfaction changing across time? A cross-temporal meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 143(3), 293–320. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000081
- Kaye, W. (2008). Neurobiology of anorexia and bulimia nervosa. *Physiology & Behavior*, 94(1), 121–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.11.037
- Kaye, W. H., Wierenga, C. E., Bailer, U. F., Simmons, A. N., Wagner, A., & Bischoff-Grethe, A. (2013). Does a shared neurobiology for foods and drugs of abuse contribute to extremes of food ingestion in anorexia and bulimia nervosa? *Biological Psychiatry*, 73(9), 836–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.01.002
- Keel, P. K., & Klump, K. L. (2003). Are eating disorders culture-bound syndromes? Implications for conceptualizing their etiology. *Psychological Bulletin*, *129*(5), 747–769. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.129.5.747

- Keppel, G., & Wickens, T.D. (2004). Analytic comparisons among treatment means. In *Design and analysis: A researcher's handbook* (4th ed.) (pp. 60-110) Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Pearson.
- Killion, L., Hughes, S., Wendt, J., Pease, D., & Nicklas, T. (2006). Minority mothers' perceptions of children's body size. *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity*, 1(2), 96-102. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/17477160600684286
- Kim, J., & Jarry, J. L. (2014). Holding fat stereotypes is associated with lower body dissatisfaction in normal weight Caucasian women who engage in body surveillance. *Body Image*, *11*(4), 331-336.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2014.06.002
- Kelly, N. R., Cotter, E. W., Tanofsky-kraff, M., Mazzeo, S. E., Kelly, N. R., Cotter, E. W., ...
 Mazzeo, S. E. (2014). Racial variations in binge eating, body image concerns, and
 compulsive exercise among men. *Psychology of Men & Masculinity*, *16*(3), 326–336.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0037585
- Kirsch, A. C., Shapiro, J. B., Conley, C. S., & Heinrichs, G. (2016). Explaining the pathway from familial and peer social support to disordered eating: Is body dissatisfaction the link for male and female adolescents?. *Eating Behaviors*, 22, 175-181. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2016.06.018
- Krane, V., Waldron, J., Stiles-Shipley, J. A., & Michalenok, J. (2001). Relationships among body satisfaction, social physique anxiety, and eating behaviors in female athletes and exercisers. *Journal of Sport Behavior*, 24(3), 247-264.
- Leahey, T. M., Crowther, J. H., & Mickelson, K. D. (2007). The frequency, nature, and effects of naturally occurring appearance-focused social comparisons. *Behavior Therapy*, *38*(2),

132-143. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2006.06.004

- Levine, M. P., Smolak, L., & Hayden, H. (1994). The relation of sociocultural factors to eating attitudes and behaviors among middle school girls. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 14(4), 471-490. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0272431694014004004
- Lewis, S., Thomas, S. L., Hyde, J., Castle, D., Blood, R. W., & Komesaroff, P. A. (2010). "I don't eat a hamburger and large chips every day!" A qualitative study of the impact of public health messages about obesity on obese adults. *BMC Public Health*, *10*(1), 309. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-10-309
- Lin, L. F., & Kulik, J. A. (2002). Social comparison and women's body satisfaction. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 24(2), 115-123. http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/S15324834BASP2402_4
- London Government. Transport for London. (2016) Advertising Policy of 2016. London, England.
- Luce, K. H., & Crowther, J. H. (1999). The reliability of the Eating Disorder Examination—Self-Report Questionnaire version (EDE-Q). *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 25(3), 349-351. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-108X(199904)25:3<349::AID-EAT15>3.0.CO;2-M
- McDonnell, A., & Lin, L. (2016). The hot body issue: Weight and caption tone in celebrity gossip magazines. *Body Image*, *18*, 74–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2016.06.001
- McNicoll, T. (April 20, 2015). Is France's proposal law to ban ultra thin models really a good idea? *The New York Times*. Retrieved from: http://www.nytimes.com
- Model Health Law of 2015 is in AMENDEMENT N°2310 of the ASSEMBLÉE NATIONALE. France.

- Mond, J. M., Hay, P. J., Rodgers, B., Owen, C., & Beumont, P. J. (2004). Validity of the Eating Disorder Examination Questionnaire (EDE-Q) in screening for eating disorders in community samples. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 42(5), 551-567.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0005-7967(03)00161-X
- Mulgrew, K. E., & Tiggemann, M. (2016). Form or function: Does focusing on body functionality protect women from body dissatisfaction when viewing media images? *Journal of Health Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105316655471
- Murakami, J. M., Essayli, J. H., & Latner, J. D. (2016). The relative stigmatization of eating disorders and obesity in males and females. *Appetite*, 102, 77–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2016.02.027
- Mussap, A. J., Manger, E., & Gold, R. S. (2016). Weight-control effort can increase obesity stereotyping. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 88, 178–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PAID.2015.09.014
- Myers, A., & Rosen, J. C. (1999). Obesity stigmatization and coping: Relation to mental health symptoms, body image, and self-esteem. *International Journal of Obesity*, 23(3), 221-230. http://dx.doi.org /10.1038/sj.ijo.0800765
- Myers, T. A., & Crowther, J. H. (2009). Social comparison as a predictor of body dissatisfaction: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *118*(4), 683-698. http://dx.doi.org /10.1037/a0016763
- Neumark-Sztainer, D., Falkner, N., Story, M., Perry, C., Hannan, P. J., & Mulert, S. (2002).
 Weight-teasing among adolescents: correlations with weight status and disordered eating behaviors. *International Journal of Obesity*, 26(1), 123–131.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0801853

- O'Brien, K. S., Caputi, P., Minto, R., Peoples, G., Hooper, C., Kell, S., & Sawley, E. (2009).
 Upward and downward physical appearance comparisons: Development of scales and examination of predictive qualities. *Body Image*, 6(3), 201-206. http://dx.doi.org /10.1016/j.bodyim.2009.03.003
- O'Brien, K. S., Hunter, J. A., Halberstadt, J., & Anderson, J. (2007). Body image and explicit and implicit anti-fat attitudes: The mediating role of physical appearance comparisons. *Body Image*, 4(3), 249–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2007.06.001
- O'Brien, K. S., Latner, J. D., Ebneter, D., & Hunter, J. A. (2013). Obesity discrimination: the role of physical appearance, personal ideology and anti-fat prejudice. *International Journal of Obesity*, *37*(3), 455–460. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2012.52
- O'Connor, C., O'Hara, L., McNamara, N., & McNicholas, F. (2015). PP40 Eating disorder literacy and stigmatisation: a survey of Irish adolescents. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 69(Suppl 1), A69-A70. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/jech-2015-206256.137
- O'Dea, J. A., & Amy, N. K. (2011). Perceived and desired weight, weight related eating and exercising behaviours, and advice received from parents among thin, overweight, obese or normal weight Australian children and adolescents. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 8(1), 68. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-8-68.
- Parham, T. A., White, J. L., & Ajamu, A. (1999). The psychology of Blacks: An African-centered perspective. Pearson College Division.

- Perez-Lopez, M., Lewis, R., & Cash, T. (2001). The relationship of antifat attitudes to other prejudicial and gender-related attitudes 1. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 31(4), 683-697. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2001.tb01408.x
- Perez, M., & Joiner, T. (2003). Body image dissatisfaction and disordered eating in Black and White women. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 33(3), 342–350. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.10148
- Peterson, C. B., Crosby, R. D., Wonderlich, S. A., Joiner, T., Crow, S. J., Mitchell, J. E., ... & le Grange, D. (2007). Psychometric properties of the Eating Disorder Examination-Questionnaire: Factor structure and internal consistency. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 40(4), 386-389. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/eat.20373
- Phelan, S. M., Dovidio, J. F., Puhl, R. M., Burgess, D. J., Nelson, D. B., Yeazel, M. W., ... & Ryn, M. (2014). Implicit and explicit weight bias in a national sample of 4,732 medical students: The medical student CHANGES study. *Obesity*, 22(4), 1201-1208. http://doi.org/10.1002/oby.20687
- Pomeranz, J. L. (2008). A historical analysis of public health, the law, and stigmatized social groups: the need for both obesity and weight bias legislation. *Obesity*, 16(S2). http://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2008.452
- Pontekotto, J. G., & Ruckdeschel, D. E. (2007). An overview of coefficient alpha and a reliability matrix for estimating adequacy of internal consistency coefficients with psychological research measures. *Perceptualand Motor Skills*, 105(3), 997–1014. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.2466/pms.105.3.997-1014

- Puhl, R. M., Andreyeva, T., & Brownell, K. D. (2008). Perceptions of weight discrimination: prevalence and comparison to race and gender discrimination in America. *International Journal of Obesity*, 32(6), 992-1000. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2008.22
- Puhl, R. M., & Brownell, K. D. (2001). Bias, discrimination and obesity. *Obesity Research*, 9, 788–805. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/oby.2001.108
- Puhl, R. M., & Brownell, K. D. (2003). Psychosocial origins of obesity stigma: toward changing a powerful and pervasive bias. *Obesity Reviews*, 4(4), 213–227. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1467-789X.2003.00122.x
- Puhl, R. M., & Heuer, C. A. (2009). The stigma of obesity: a review and update. *Obesity*, *17*(5), 941–964. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2008.636
- Puhl, R., & Heuer, C. (2010). Obesity stigma: Important considerations for public health. American Journal of Public Health, 100(6), 1019-28. http://dx.doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2009.159491
- Puhl, R. M., Latner, J. D., King, K. M., & Luedicke, J. (2014). Weight bias among professionals treating eating disorders: Attitudes about treatment and perceived patient outcomes. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 47(1), 65–75. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.22186
- Puhl, R. M., Latner, J. D., O'Brien, K., Luedicke, J., Danielsdottir, S., & Forhan, M. (2015). A multinational examination of weight bias: Predictors of anti-fat attitudes across four countries. *International Journal of Obesity*, 39(7), 1166–1173. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2015.32

- Puhl, R., Schwartz, M., Brownell, K., & Stone, A. (2005). Impact of perceived consensus on stereotypes about obese people: A new approach for reducing bias. *Health Psychology*, 24(5), 517-525. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.24.5.517
- Ramirez, J. C., & Milan, S. (2016). Perceived size of friends and weight evaluation among lowincome adolescents. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *39*(2), 334-345. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10865-015-9682-x
- Rancourt, D., Leahey, T. M., LaRose, J. G., & Crowther, J. H. (2015). Effects of weight-focused social comparisons on diet and activity outcomes in overweight and obese young women. *Obesity*, 23(1), 85-89. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/oby.20953
- Reilly, J. J., Methven, E., McDowell, Z. C., Hacking, B., Alexander, D., Stewart, L., & Kelnar,
 C. J. (2003). Health consequences of obesity. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, 88(9),
 748-752. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/adc.88.
- Reynolds, W. M. (1982). Development of reliable and valid short forms of the Marlowe-Crowne Social Desirability Scale. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *38*(1), 119–125. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-4679(198201)38:1<119::AID-JCLP2270380118>3.0.CO;2-I
- Robinson, B.E., Bacon, L. C., & O'Reilly, J. (1993). Fat phobia: Measuring, understanding, and changing anti-fat attitudes. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, *14*(4), 467–480. https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-108X(199312)14:4<467::AID-EAT2260140410>3.0.CO;2-J
- Roehrig, J. P., & McLean, C. P. (2010). A comparison of stigma toward eating disorders versus depression. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 43(7), 671–674. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.20760

- Rodgers, R. F., Ziff, S., Lowy, A. S., Yu, K., & Austin, S. B. (2017). Results of a strategic science study to inform policies targeting extreme thinness standards in the fashion industry. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/eat.22682
- Rogers Wood, N. A., & Petrie, T. A. (2010). Body dissatisfaction, ethnic identity, and disordered eating among African American women. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 57(2), 141. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0018922
- Rosen, J. C., & Gross, J. (1987). Prevalence of weight reducing and weight gaining in adolescent girls and boys. *Health Psychology*, 6(2), 131. http://dx.doi.org /10.1037/0278-6133.6.2.131
- Rosenberg, M. (1965). Society and the adolescent self-image (Vol. 11). Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Rosenthal, L., Earnshaw, V., Carroll-Scott, A., Henderson, K., Peters, S., McCaslin, C., & Ickovics, J. (2015). Weight- and race-based bullying: Health associations among urban adolescents. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 20(4), 401-412. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1359105313502567
- Ross, K. M., Shivy, V. A., & Mazzeo, S. E. (2009). Ambiguity and judgments of obese individuals: No news could be bad news. *Eating Behaviors*, 10, 152–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2009.03.008
- Rudolph, C. W., Wells, C. L., Weller, M. D., & Baltes, B. B. (2009). A meta-analysis of empirical studies of weight-based bias in the workplace. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 74(1), 1-10. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2008.09.008

- Sabin, J. A., Marini, M., & Nosek, B. A. (2012). Implicit and explicit anti-fat bias among a large sample of medical doctors by BMI, race/ethnicity and gender. *PloS one*, 7(11), e48448. http://dx.doi.org /10.1371/journal.pone.0048448
- Schaefer, L. M., & Thompson, J. K. (2014). The development and validation of the Physical Appearance Comparison Scale-Revised (PACS-R). *Eating Behaviors*, 15(2), 209–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EATBEH.2014.01.001
- Schreiber, G. B., Robins, M., Striegel-Moore, R., Obarzanek, E., Morrison, J. A., & Wright, D. J. (1996). Weight modification efforts reported by Black and White preadolescent girls:
 National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Growth and Health Study. *Pediatrics*, 98(1), 63-70.
- Schvey, N. A., Puhl, R. M., & Brownell, K. D. (2014). The stress of stigma: Exploring the effect of weight stigma on cortisol reactivity. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 76(2), 156–162. https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.000000000000031
- Shaw, H., Ramirez, L., Trost, A., Randall, P., & Stice, E. (2004). Body image and eating disturbances across ethnic groups: More similarities than differences. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 18(1), 12–18. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-164X.18.1.12
- Sherry, B., McDivitt, J., Birch, L.L., Cook, F.H., Sanders, S., Prish, J.L., ... & Scanlon, K.S., (2004). Attitudes, practices, and concerns about child feeding and child weight status among socioeconomically diverse White, Hispanic, and African-American mothers. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 104(2), 215-221. http://dx.doi.org /10.1016/j.jada.2003.11.012
- Shoup, J., Gattshall, A., Dandamudi, M., & Estabrooks, P. (2008). Physical activity, quality of life, and weight status in overweight children. *Quality of Life Research*, *17*(3), 407-412.
- Shuttlesworth, M. E., & Zotter, D. (2011). Disordered eating in African American and Caucasian women: The role of ethnic identity. *Journal of Black Studies*, 42(6), 906–922. https://doi.org/10.1177/0021934710396368
- Simpson, C. C., Griffin, B. J., & Mazzeo, S. E. (2017). Psychological and behavioral effects of obesity prevention campaigns. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *1*, 135910531769391. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105317693913
- Simpson, C. C., & Mazzeo, S. E. (2017). Skinny is not enough: A content analysis of fitspiration on Pinterest. *Health Communication*, 32(5), 560–567. https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2016.1140273
- Singh, A., Uijtdewilligen, L., Twisk, J., Van Mechelen, W., & Chinapaw, M. (2012). Physical activity and performance at school: A systematic review of the literature including a methodological quality assessment. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, 166(1), 49-55. http://dx.doi.org/10.1001/archpediatrics.2011.716
- Slater, A., & Tiggemann, M. (2006). The contribution of physical activity and media use during childhood and adolescence to adult women's body image. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 11(4), 553-65. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1359105306065016
- Stein, K. (2008). Obesity PSAs: Are they working as a public service?. Journal of the American Dietetic Association, 108(1), 25-28. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.2007.11.017
- Steinberg, S., & Jotkowitz, A. (2017). The ethics of public health laws, and the special case of the new "Model Law." *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine*, 59(2), 206–212. https://doi.org/http://doi.org/10.1353/pbm.2017.0005
- Stewart, M. C., Keel, P. K., & Schiavo, R. S. (2006). Stigmatization of anorexia nervosa. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 39(4), 320-325.

http://doi.org/10.1002/eat.20262

- Stommel, M., & Schoenborn, C. A. (2009). Accuracy and usefulness of BMI measures based on self-reported weight and height: findings from the NHANES & NHIS 2001-2006. BMC Public Health, 9(1), 421. http://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-9-421
- Striegel-Moore, R. H., Dohm, F. A., Kraemer, H. C., Taylor, C. B., Daniels, S., Crawford, P. B.,
 & Schreiber, G. B. (2003). Eating disorders in White and Black women. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *160*(7), 1326–1331. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.160.7.1326
- Striegel-Moore, R. H., Schreiber, G. B., Lo, A., Crawford, P., Obarzanek, E., & Rodin, J. (2000).
 Eating disorder symptoms in a cohort of 11 to 16-year-old black and white girls: The
 NHLBI growth and health study. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 27(1), 49–
 66. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-108X(200001)27:1<49::AID-EAT6>3.0.CO;2-E
- Sutin, A., Robinson, E., Daly, M., & Terracciano, A. (2016). Weight discrimination and unhealthy eating-related behaviors. *Appetite*, 102, 83–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2016.02.016
- Swami, V., Furnham, A., Amin, R., Chaudhri, J., Joshi, K., Jundi, S., ... Tovée, M. J. (2008). Lonelier, lazier, and teased: The stigmatizing effect of body size. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, 148(5), 577–594. https://doi.org/10.3200/SOCP.148.5.577-594
- Swami, V., & Tovée, M. J. (2005). Female physical attractiveness in Britain and Malaysia: A cross-cultural study. *Body Image*, 2(2), 115-128. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2005.02.00
- Tabachnick, B. G., Fidell, L. S., & Osterlind, S. J. (2001). Using multivariate statistics.
- Tantleff-Dunn, S., Hayes, S., & Braun, C. P. (2009). How did you get so thin? The effect of attribution on perceptions of underweight females. *Eating and Weight Disorders*, *14*(1),

38-44. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03327793

- Teachman, B. A., & Brownell, K. D. (2001). Implicit anti-fat bias among health professionals: is anyone immune?. *International Journal of Obesity*, 25(10), 1525-1531. http://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0801745
- Teachman, B. A., Gapinski, K. D., Brownell, K. D., Rawlins, M., & Jeyaram, S. (2003).
 Demonstrations of implicit anti-fat bias: The impact of providing causal information and evoking empathy. *Health Psychology*, 22(1), 68–78. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.22.1.68
- Thompson, J. K., Heinberg, L. J., Altabe, M., & Tantleff-Dunn, S. (1999). Exacting beauty: Theory, assessment, and treatment of body image disturbance. Washington, D.C.: American Psychological Association.
- Tiggemann, M., & Zaccardo, M. (2015). "Exercise to be fit, not skinny": The effect of fitspiration imagery on women's body image. *Body Image*, 15, 61-67. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2015.06.003
- Tomiyama, J. (2014). Weight stigma is stressful. A review of evidence for the Cyclic Obesity/Weight-Based Stigma model. *Appetite*, 82(1), 8–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2014.06.108
- Tomiyama, A., Finch, L., Belsky, A., Buss, J., Finley, C., Schwartz, M., & Daubenmier, J. (2015). Weight bias in 2001 versus 2013: Contradictory attitudes among obesity researchers and health professionals. *Obesity*, 23(1), 46-53. http://dx.doi.org /110.1016/j.appet.2014.06.108
- Tylka, T. L. (2006). Development and psychometric evaluation of a measure of intuitive eating. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *53*(2), 226.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/00220167.53.2.226

- Tylka, T. L., & Iannantuono, A. C. (2016). Perceiving beauty in all women: Psychometric evaluation of the Broad Conceptualization of Beauty Scale. *Body Image*, 17, 67–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BODYIM.2016.02.005
- Tovée, M. J., Reinhardt, S., Emery, J. L., & Cornelissen, P. L. (1998). Optimum body-mass index and maximum sexual attractiveness. *The Lancet*, 352(9127), 548. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(05)79257-6
- Uchino, B. (2006). Social Support and Health: A Review of Physiological Processes Potentially
 Underlying Links to Disease Outcomes. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 29(4), 377-387.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10865-006-9056-5
- US Department of Health and Human Services, The Advertising Council. Healthy Lifestyles and Disease Prevention Media Campaign: Take a Small Step to Get Healthy. 2004. Available at: http://www.smallstep.gov/pdf/obesity_whitepaperfinal_71205.pdf.
- US Deptartment of Health and Human Services; et al. (August 2016). "Anthropometric Reference Data for Children and Adults: United States, 2011–2014". *National Health Statistics Reports*.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Healthy People 2010: Understanding and Improving Health. 2nd ed. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office, November 2000.
- van Ryn, M., & Burke, J. (2000). The effect of patient race and socio-economic status on physicians' perceptions of patients. *Social Science & Medicine*, 50(6), 813–828. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(99)00338-X

Vinoski, E., Webb, J. B., Warren-Findlow, J., Brewer, K. A., & Kiffmeyer, K. A. (2017). Got

yoga?: A longitudinal analysis of thematic content and models' appearance-related attributes in advertisements spanning four decades of Yoga Journal. *Body Image*, 21, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2017.01.006

- Vohs, K., Heatherton, T., & Herrin, M. (2001). Disordered eating and the transition to college: A prospective study. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 29(3), 280-288. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/eat.1019
- von Hippel, W., Silver, L. A., & Lynch, M. E. (2000). Stereotyping against your will: The role of inhibitory ability in stereotyping and prejudice among the elderly. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 26(5), 523–532. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167200267001
- Wade, J., & Dimaria, C. (2003). Weight Halo Effects: Individual differences in perceived life success as a function of women's race and weight. *Sex Roles*, 48(9). https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1023582629538
- Webb, J. B., Vinoski, E. R., Warren-Findlow, J., Burrell, M. I., & Putz, D. Y. (2017). Downward dog becomes fit body, inc.: A content analysis of 40 years of female cover images of Yoga Journal. *Body Image*, 22, 129–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2017.07.001
- Webb, J. B., Warren-Findlow, J., Chou, Y. Y., & Adams, L. (2013). Do you see what I see?: An exploration of inter-ethnic ideal body size comparisons among college women. *Body Image*, 10(3), 369-379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2013.03.005
- Weiner, B., Perry, R. P., & Magnusson, J. (1988). An attributional analysis of reactions to stigmas. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 55(5), 738–748. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.55.5.738
- Witte, K., & Allen, M. (2000). A meta-analysis of fear appeals: Implications for effective public health campaigns. *Health Education & Behavior*, 27(5), 591-615.

https://doi.org/10.1177/109019810002700506

Wott, C. B., & Carels, R. A. (2010). Overt weight stigma, psychological distress and weight loss treatment outcomes. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 15(4), 608–614. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105309355339

Young, R., Subramanian, R., & Hinnant, A. (2016). Stigmatizing images in obesity health campaign messages and healthy behavioral intentions. *Health Education & Behavior*, 43(4), 412–419. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198115604624

Appendix A Vignettes

White/Underweight

Sarah is a White 19-year-old female. She is a full-time student in her sophomore year of college and she is studying marketing. Between schoolwork, housework, shopping, and socializing, she enjoys watching Netflix. She regularly hangs out with several good friends. Sarah is 106 lbs, 5'4, and a size 0 and her doctor told her that this means that she is slightly underweight.

White/Normal weight

Sarah is a White 19-year-old female. She is a full-time student in her sophomore year of college and she is studying marketing. Between schoolwork, housework, shopping, and socializing, she enjoys watching Netflix. She regularly hangs out with several good friends. Sarah is 120 lbs, 5'4, and a size 6 and her doctor told her that this means that she is normal weight.

White/Overweight

Sarah is a White 19-year-old female. She is a full-time student in her sophomore year of college and she is studying marketing. Between schoolwork, housework, shopping, and socializing, she enjoys watching Netflix. She regularly hangs out with several good friends. Sarah is 154 lbs, 5'4, and a size 12 and her doctor told her that this means that she slightly overweight.

Black/Underweight

Sarah is a Black 19-year-old female. She is a full-time student in her sophomore year of college and she is studying marketing. Between schoolwork, housework, shopping, and socializing, she enjoys watching Netflix. She regularly hangs out with several good friends. Sarah is 106 lbs, 5'4, and a size 0 and her doctor told her that this means that she is slightly underweight.

Black/Normal weight

Sarah is a Black 19-year-old female. She is a full-time student in her sophomore year of college and she is studying marketing. Between schoolwork, housework, shopping, and socializing, she enjoys watching Netflix. She regularly hangs out with several good friends. Sarah is 120 lbs, 5'4, and a size 6 and her doctor told her that this means that she is normal weight.

Black/Overweight

Sarah is a Black 19-year-old female. She is a full-time student in her sophomore year of college and she is studying marketing. Between schoolwork, housework, shopping, and socializing, she enjoys watching Netflix. She regularly hangs out with several good friends. Sarah is 154 lbs, 5'4, and a size 12 and her doctor told her that this means that she slightly overweight.

Appendix B

Demographic Questionnaire

1. Age (in whole numbers): _____

- 2. Year in school:
- ____ First-year (Freshman)
- ____ Sophomore
- ____ Junior
- ____ Senior
- ____ Graduate
- 3. Race/ethnicity (check all that apply):
- ____ White/Caucasian
- ____ Black/African-American
- ____ Hispanic/Latino
- ____ Asian/Asian-American
- ____ Other
- 4. Gender:
- ____ Male
- ____ Female
- ____ Prefer not to answer
- ___ Other

If other, please specify: _____

- 5. Current height (in inches): _____
- 6. Current weight (in pounds): _____
- 7. What is your current living situation?
- ____ Live alone

- ____ Live with parents
- ____ Live off-campus
- ____ Live on-campus
- ____ Live with roommates
- 8. Please type in the current month.

Appendix C Validation questions

- 1. Was the person in the vignette male or female?
 - __ Male
 - ___ Female
- 2. What was the person in the vignette's race?
 - ____ White/European American
 - ____ Black/African-American
- 3. Describe the person in the vignette's weight.
 - _____ Slightly underweight
 - ___ Normal weight
 - _____Slightly overweight

Appendix D

Fat Phobia Scale

Listed below are 36 pairs of adjectives sometimes used to describe people. For each adjective pair, please circle the number closest to the adjective that you feel best describes your feelings and beliefs about Sarah.

1. Lazy	1	2	3	4	5	Industrious
2. Sloppy	1	2	3	4	5	Neat
3. Friendly	1	2	3	4	5	Unfriendly
4. Nonassertive	1	2	3	4	5	Assertive
5. No will power	1	2	3	4	5	Has will power
6. Warm	1	2	3	4	5	Cold
7. Depressed	1	2	3	4	5	Нарру
8. Smart	1	2	3	4	5	Stupid
9. Unambitious	1	2	3	4	5	Ambitious
10. Easy to talk to	1	2	3	4	5	Hard to talk to
11. Unattractive	1	2	3	4	5	Attractive
12. Poor self-control	1	2	3	4	5	Good self-control
13. Ineffective	1	2	3	4	5	Effective
14. Popular	1	2	3	4	5	Unpopular
15. Slow	1	2	3	4	5	Fast
16. Careless	1	2	3	4	5	Careful
17 Having endurance	1	2	3	4	5	Having no endurance
18. Inactive	1	2	3	4	5	Active
19. Tries to please people	1	2	3	4	5	Does not try to please people
20. Humorous	1	2	3	4	5	Humorless
21. Strong	1	2	3	4	5	Weak
22. Individualistic	1	2	3	4	5	Conforming
23. Independent	1	2	3	4	5	Dependent
24. Good-natured	1	2	3	4	5	Irritable
25. Selfish	1	2	3	4	5	Selfless

ANTI-THIN BIAS

26. Passive	1	2	3	4	5	Aggressive
27. Indirect	1	2	3	4	5	Direct
28. Likes food	1	2	3	4	5	Dislikes food
29. Dirty	1	2	3	4	5	Clean
30. Easy going	1	2	3	4	5	Uptight
31. Shapeless	1	2	3	4	5	Shapely
32. Overeats	1	2	3	4	5	Undereats
33. Moody	1	2	3	4	5	Even-tempered
34. Insecure	1	2	3	4	5	Secure
35. Low self-esteem	1	2	3	4	5	High self-esteem
36. Does not attend to own appearance	1	2	3	4	5	Attends to own appearance

Appendix E

Causes of Weight What is the importance of each factor in causing Sarah's weight?

1=not at al	l important
-------------	-------------

2=somewhat important

3=moderately important

4=Very important

5=extremely important

1.	Physical activity	1	2	3	4	5
2.	Eating habits	1	2	3	4	5
3.	Amount of fat in their diet	1	2	3	4	5
4.	Genetic factors	1	2	3	4	5
5.	Poor nutritional knowledge	1	2	3	4	5
6.	Psychological problems	1	2	3	4	5
7.	Repeated dieting (Weight cycling)	1	2	3	4	5
8.	Restaurant eating	1	2	3	4	5
9.	Willpower	1	2	3	4	5
10.	Metabolic defect	1	2	3	4	5
11.	Endocrine disorder	1	2	3	4	5
12.	Eating Disorder	1	2	3	4	5
13.	Other (please specify)					

Appendix F Marlowe-Crowne Social Desirability Scale (MCSD)

Please answer yes or no to the following questions.

- 1. It is sometimes hard for me to go on with my work if I am not encouraged.
- 2. I sometimes feel resentful when I don't get my way.
- 3. On a few occasions, I have given up doing something because I thought too little of my ability.
- 4. There have been times when I felt like rebelling against people in authority even though I knew they were right.
- 5. No matter who I'm talking to, I'm always a good listener.
- 6. There have been occasions when I took advantage of someone.
- 7. I'm always willing to admit it when I make a mistake.
- 8. I sometimes try to get even rather than forgive and forget.
- 9. I am always courteous, even to people who are disagreeable.
- 10. I have never been irked when people expressed ideas very different from my own.
- 11. There have been times when I was quite jealous of the good fortune of others.
- 12. I am sometimes irritated by people who ask favors of me.
- 13. I have never deliberately said something that hurt someone's feelings.

Appendix G The Iowa-Netherlands Comparison Orientation Measure (INCOM)

Response scale for all items:

- 1. I disagree strongly
- 2. I disagree
- 3. I neither agree nor disagree
- 4. I agree
- 5. I agree strongly

Most people compare themselves from time to time with others. For example, they may compare the way they feel, their opinions, their abilities, and/or their situation with those of other people. There is nothing particularly 'good' or 'bad' about this type of comparison, and some people do it more than others. We would like to find out how often you compare yourself with other people. To do that we would like to ask you to indicate how much you agree with each statement below.

1. I often compare myself with others with respect to what I have accomplished in life.

2. If I want to learn more about something, I try to find out what others think about it.

3. I always pay a lot of attention to how I do things compared with how others do things.

4. I often compare how my loved ones (boy or girlfriend, family members, etc.) are doing with how others are doing.

5. I always like to know what others in a similar situation would do.

6. I am not the type of person who compares often with others.

7. If I want to find out how well I have done something, I compare what I have done with how others have done.

8. I often try to find out what others think who face similar problems as I face.

9. I often like to talk with others about mutual opinions and experiences.

10. I never consider my situation in life relative to that of other people.

11. I often compare how I am doing socially (e.g., social skills, popularity) with other people.

Appendix H

Physical Appearance Comparison Scale-Revised (PACS-R)

People sometimes compare their physical appearance to the physical appearance of others. This can be a comparison of their weight, body size, body shape, body fat or overall appearance. Thinking about how you generally compare yourself to others, please use the following scale to rate how often you make these kinds of comparisons.

Never	Seldom	Sometimes	Often	Always
0	1	2	3	4

		Never			4	Always
1.	When I'm out in public, I compare my physical appearance to the appearance of others.	0	1	2	3	4
2.	When I meet a new person (same sex), I compare my body size to his/her body size.	0	1	2	3	4
3.	When I'm at work or school, I compare my body shape to the body shape of others.	0	1	2	3	4
4.	When I'm out in public, I compare my body fat to the body fat of others.	0	1	2	3	4
5.	When I'm shopping for clothes, I compare my weight to the weight of others.	0	1	2	3	4
6.	When I'm at a party, I compare my body shape to the body shape of others.	0	1	2	3	4
7.	When I'm with a group of friends, I compare my weight to the weight of others.	0	1	2	3	4
8.	When I'm out in public, I compare my body size to the body size of others.	0	1	2	3	4
9.	When I'm with a group of friends, I compare my body size to the body size of others.	0	1	2	3	4

ANTI-THIN BIAS

10.	When I'm eating at a restaurant, I compare my body fat to the body fat of others.	0	1	2	3	4
11.	When I'm at the gym, I compare my physical appearance to the appearance of others.	0	1	2	3	4

Appendix I Broad Conceptualization of Beauty Scale (BCBS)

How do YOU define women's beauty? Please indicate the extent to which you agree with each statement. We are only interested in YOUR beliefs, which may or may not be reflected by others or society.

- 1 = Strongly Disagree
- 2 = Moderately Disagree
- 3 = Slightly Disagree
- 4 = Neither Agree Nor Disagree
- 5 = Slightly Agree
- 6 = Moderately Agree
- 7 = Strongly Agree

1. Even if a physical feature is not considered attractive by others or by society, I think that it can be beautiful.

2. A woman's confidence level can change my perception of her physical beauty.

- 3. I think that a wide variety of body shapes are beautiful for women.
- 4. I think that thin women are more beautiful than women who have other body types.
- 5. A woman's soul or inner spirit can change my perception of her physical beauty.
- 6. I define a woman's beauty differently than how it is portrayed in the media.
- 7. A woman's acceptance of herself can change my perception of her physical beauty.
- 8. I appreciate a wide range of different looks as beautiful.
- 9. I think that women of all body sizes can be beautiful.

Appendix J Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (Rosenberg, 1965)

The scale is a ten item Likert scale with items answered on a four point scale - from strongly agree to strongly disagree. The original sample for which the scale was developed consisted of 5,024 High School Juniors and Seniors from 10 randomly selected schools in New York State.

Instructions: Below is a list of statements dealing with your general feelings about yourself. If you strongly agree, circle **SA**. If you agree with the statement, circle **A**. If you disagree, circle **D**. If you strongly disagree, circle **SD**.

1.	On the whole, I am satisfied with myself.	SA	А	D	SD
2.*	At times, I think I am no good at all.	SA	А	D	SD
3.	I feel that I have a number of good qualities.	SA	А	D	SD
4.	I am able to do things as well as most other people.	SA	А	D	SD
5.*	I feel I do not have much to be proud of.	SA	А	D	SD
6.*	I certainly feel useless at times.	SA	А	D	SD
7.	I feel that I'm a person of worth, at least on an equal plane with others.	SA	A	D	SD
8.*	I wish I could have more respect for myself.	SA	А	D	SD
9.*	All in all, I am inclined to feel that I am a failure.	SA	А	D	SD
10.	I take a positive attitude toward myself.	SA	А	D	SD

Scoring: SA=3, A=2, D=1, SD=0. Items with an asterisk are reverse scored, that is, SA=0, A=1, D=2, SD=3. Sum the scores for the 10 items. The higher the score, the higher the self esteem.

Appendix K

Eating Disorder Examination Questionnaire (EDE-Q)

Instructions

The following questions are concerned with the PAST FOUR WEEKS ONLY (28 days). Please read each question carefully and circle the appropriate number on the right. Please answer <u>all</u> the questions.

ON HOW MANY DAYS OUT OF THE PAST 28 DAYS	No days	1-5 days	6-12 days	13-15 days	16-22 days	23-27 days	Every day	
1. Have you been deliberating								
trying to limit the amount of								
food you eat to influence you								
shape or weight?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	
2. Have you gone for long periods of time (8 hours or more) without eating anything in order to influence your shape or weight?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	
3. Have you <u>tried</u> to avoid eating any foods which you like in order to influence your shape or weight?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	

ANTI-THIN BIAS

4. Have you tried to								
follow definite rules								
regarding your eating in								
order to influence your								
shape or weight; for example,								
a calorie limit, a set amount								
of food, or rules about what or								
when you should eat?		0	1	2	3	4	5	6
5 Have non-marked non-								
5. Have you wanted your		0	1	2	2	4	F	ſ
stomach to be empty?		0	I	2	3	4	5	6
6 Has thinking about food								
o. Has thinking about 1000	- 1 -							
or its calorie content made it mus	cn							
things you are interesting in for								
avample read watch TV or								
follow a conversation?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	
7 Have you been afraid								
of losing control over eating?		0	1	2	3	4	5	6
		0	1	2	5	т 	5	0
8. Have you had episodes								
of binge eating?	0	1	2	3	4	5	б	

9. Have you eaten in secret? (Do not count binges.)	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	
10. Have you definitely								
wanted you stomach to								
be flat?		0	1	2	3	4	5	6
11. Has thinking about shape								
or weight made it more								
difficult to concentrate on								
things you are interested in;								
for example read, watch TV,								
or follow a conversation?		0	1	2	3	4	5	6
12. Have you had a								
definite fear that you might								
gain weight or become fat?		0	1	2	3	4	5	6
13. Have you felt fat?		0	1	2	3	4	5	6
14. Have you had a strong								
desire to lose weight?		0	1	2	3	4	5	6

OVER THE PAST FOUR WEEKS (28 DAYS)

15. On what proportion of time	0 - None of the times
that you have eaten have you	1 - A few of the times
felt guilty because the effect on	2 – Less than half the times
your shape or weight? (Do not	3 – Half of the times
count binges.) (Circle the number	4 – More than half the times
which applies.)	5 - Most of the times
	6 – Every time

16. Over the past four weeks (28 days), have there been any times when you have felt you have eaten what other people would regard as an unusually large amount of food given the circumstances? (Please put appropriate number in box).

0 – No 1 – Yes []

17. How many episodes have you had over the past four weeks?

[][][]

18. During how many of these episodes of overeating did you have a sense of having lost control over your eating?

[][][]

19. Have you had other episodes of eating in which you have had a sense of having lost control and eaten too much, but have <u>not</u> eaten an unusually large amount of food given the circumstances?

0 – No 1 – Yes [] 20. How many such episodes have you had over the past four weeks?

[][][]

21. Over the past four weeks have you made yourself sick (vomit) as a means of controlling your shape or weight?

22. How many times have you done this over the past four weeks?

[][][]

1 – Yes []

0 - No

23. Have you taken laxatives as a means of controlling your shape or weight?

0 – No 1 – Yes []

24. How many times have you done this over the past four weeks?

[][][]

25. Have you take diuretics (water tablets) as a means of controlling your shape or weight?

0 – No 1 – Yes []

26. How many times have you done this over the past four weeks?

[][][]

27. Have you exercised hard as a means of controlling your shape or weight?

0 - No

1 – Yes []

28. How many times have you done this over the past four weeks?

[][][]

OVER THE PAST FOUR WEEKS (28 DAYS) (Please circle the number which best describes your behavior.)	NOT AT ALL		SLIGHTY		MODERATELY		MARKEDLY
29. Has your weight influenced how you think about (judge) yourself as a person?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
30. Has your shape influenced how you think about (judge) yourself as a person?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
31. How much would it upset you if you had to weight yourself once a week for the next four weeks?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
32. How dissatisfied have you felt about your weight?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
33. How dissatisfied have you felt about your shape?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
34. How concerned have you been about other people seeing you eat?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
35. How uncomfortable have you felt seeing your body; for example, in the mirror, in shop window reflections, while undressing or taking a bath or shower?	0	1	2	3	4	5	6

36. How uncomfortable have you felt about	0	1	2	3	4	5	6
others seeing your body; for example, in							
communal changing rooms, when swimming							
or wearing tight clothes?							